## COMPARISON OF CHEESE, YOGURT, AND MILK EFFECTS ON GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS AND LIVER LIPID ACCUMULATION IN MICE FED HIGH-FAT DIET

by

Salma Moftah Jabir Moftah

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Physiology University of Alberta

© Salma Moftah Jabir Moftah, 2022

### Abstract

**Background**: Many human observational studies show an inverse or neutral association between dairy consumption and the risk of diabetes. Our lab's previous work suggests that both low and high-fat cheese consumption improves glucose homeostasis in insulinresistant (IR), prediabetic rats. IR also affects the hepatic lipid metabolism, which can lead to liver injury and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Previous studies have shown that low-fat dairy intake can improve liver function and reduce steatosis. This study examines whether regular-fat yogurt and milk have a similar effect on glucose homeostasis as regular-fat cheese and evaluates the impact of regular fat dairy intake on hepatic lipid accumulation in IR mice.

**Methods**: An 8-week feeding intervention with dairy foods (regular-fat Yogurt, Milk, and Cheese) equivalent to half a serving was performed in a high-fat diet-fed (HFD) insulinresistant male C57BI6/J mice (N=48 with n=12/group). A low-fat diet (LFD) control group was included (n=12). Mice were weighed weekly, and body fat mass was measured at week 6. To evaluate IR and hepatic glucose output capacity, insulin tolerance test (ITT) and a pyruvate tolerance test (PTT) with n=6 mice/group were administered one week before euthanasia. Fasting serum at the time of euthanasia was used to measure alanine aminotransferase (ALT), triglyceride (TG), and non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA). Frozen liver tissue was used to measure liver TG. Liver histology was done to quantify the accumulation of fat droplets following dairy consumption.

**Results**: All mice on HFD had significantly more body fat % than the LFD group independent of dairy consumption. However, there was no significant effect of diet on ITT

ii

and PTT. Milk diet significantly lowered serum TG, while Yogurt elevated both serum and hepatic TG with no significant impact on ALT compared to the LFD group. The dairy foods had no significant effect on serum NEFA; however, liver histology showed improvement in hepatic lipid-related morphological characteristics in the Milk group. This improvement was evidenced by decreased macrovesicle area and increased microvesicle area compared to the HFD group.

**Conclusion**: The results did not support our hypothesis that regular fat dairy, in particular Milk, Yogurt, and Cheese improve insulin sensitivity. However, milk consumption, even in a small amount (equivalent to half a serving), was beneficial in reducing serum TG and improving hepatic lipid metabolism.

### Acknowledgment

I would first like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Catherine Chan, for her continuous support, patience, and kindness. Your knowledge and experience have encouraged me in my academic research and daily life. I also would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my committee members Dr. Clugston and Dr. Yue, for their valuable feedback and advice.

Special thanks to Stephany and Emad (Lab pals); you witnessed my hard work. When the experiments did not go well, you were the first responders to my frustration; your insightful feedback through the process of researching and writing this thesis pushed me to sharpen my thinking. It brought my work to a higher level.

I had the great pleasure of working with Zohre, who was supportive and helpful, and Hui, who guided me positively and made me feel welcome whenever I came asking for help.I gratefully acknowledge the help of Xiaoying, who worked on counting the liver droplets of more than 200 slides without complaint.

I would like to thank the following people for helping while working on this project, Nicole Coursen, Carla, Kelly-Ann, Ren, and other Chan lab members. Special thanks to Libyan- North American Scholarship Program and Dairy farmers of Canada for their financial support. This thesis would not have been possible without their financial contribution and support.

iv

The completion of my master's would not have been possible without the support and nurturing of my beloved husband Alkailani and my beautiful kids Mohamed, Salem, Khaleda, Lena, and Yusr. Thank you for constantly listening to my rage and talking things out, supporting me during difficult times, and for the sacrifices you have made for me to pursue a master's degree.

I must express my profound gratitude to my parents, sister, brothers, and extended family in Libya for providing unfailing support and continuous encouragement throughout my years of study. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them. Thanks should also go to my best friends Asma and Maria, who always be there for me and tell me that I am tough even when I don't feel that way.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Abbreviations	x
Chapter 1 : Introduction	1
1.1 Diabetes Prevalence and Diagnosis	1
1.2 Insulin Physiology	2
1.3 Insulin Resistance	4
1.4 IR and NAFLD	6
1.5 Dairy Consumption and Risk of Diabetes	7
1.6 Previous Animal Trials for Dairy and Risk of T2D	11
1.7 Dairy Matrix	16
1.8 Comparison of Recommended and Actual Doses of Dairy Used in Research	18
Chapter 2 : Methods	23
2.1 In Vivo Protocols	23
2.1.1 Animal Treatment and Protocol	23
2.1.2 Diet	24
2.1.3 Dairy dose calculation	26
2.1.4 Insulin Tolerance Test (ITT)	28
2.1.5 Pyruvate Tolerance Test (PTT)	28
2.2 Tissue Collection	28
2.3 In Vitro Protocol	29
2.3.1 Liver Lipid Content	29
2.3.2 Immunoblotting	30
2.3.3 Liver Histology	31
2.3.4 Echo MRI	32
2.4 Statistical analysis	32
Chapter 3 : Results	34
3.1 Effect of Dairy Consumption on Metabolic Phenotype in Insulin Resistant Ma	ale
Mice	34
3.1.1 Weight Changes and Caloric Intake	34
3.1.2 Fasting Blood Glucose and Insulin Concentrations:	35
3.1.3 Insulin Tolerance Test (ITT)	37
3.1.4 Pyruvate Tolerance Test	40

3.1.6 Body Composition	43 Mice
	Mice
3.2 Effect of Dairy Consumption on Serum and Hepatic Lipid Phenotype in IR	
	44
3.2.1 Liver Weight	44
3.2.2 Serum TG and NEFA	45
3.2.3 Liver Triglyceride	46
3.2.4 Alanine Aminotransferase (ALT)	47
3.2.5 Liver Histology	47
3.2.6 Immunoblotting	49
Chapter 4 : Effect of Dairy Consumption on Metabolic Phenotype in Female Mice	51
Chapter 5 : Discussion and Conclusion	55
5.1 Summary of Hypotheses and Main Findings	55
5.2 HFD as a Model for Prediabetes and Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease	55
5.3 Effects of Dairy and Its Components on Hepatic Lipid Storage	58
5.4 Effect of Dairy on Markers of Liver Damage	67
5.5 Effect of Dairy Intake on In Vivo and Hepatic Glucose Metabolism	68
5.6 Conclusions	71
5.7 Limitations	72
5.8 Future Recommendations	73

# List of Tables

Table 1—1 Molecular mechanism involved in insulin resistance adapted from Peters,	
Yaribeygi et al. 2019 (14)	6
Table 1—2 Rodent studies feeding milk, yogurt, or cheese and their effects on glucos	e
homeostasis	. 13
Table 1—3 Summary of the association of dairy dose and type with the risk of T2D	
adapted from Lee et al 2018 (36)	. 19
Table 2—1 Dairy product classification according to milk fat %	.25
Table 2—2 Composition of the experimental diets (g/kg)	.25
Table 2—3 Amount of dairy for mouse diets calculated according to serving sizes for	
human diets	.26
Table 2—4 Nutritional composition of experimental food, Milk, Yogurt, Cheese, (per h	alf
serving)	. 27
Table 2—5 Diet Macronutrient Composition expressed as % of Kcal for HFD, LFD,	
HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, and HFD+Cheese	. 27
Table 2—6 Antibodies and dilutions used in western blot	. 31
Table 3—1 Metabolic Profile of Male Mice	. 37
Table 4—1 Metabolic profile of female mice	. 53

# Table of Figures

Figure 1-1 Contribution of genetic predisposition and environment factors in the	
pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes	2
Figure 2-1 Schematic description of the experimental design	. 24
Figure 3-1 Weekly body weight for male mice	. 35
Figure 3-2 Blood glucose concentration after 4 hours of fasting (A) and overnight fast	ing
(B) for male mice	. 36
Figure 3-3 Effects of 7 weeks of diet feeding on ITT HFD vs LFD	. 38
Figure 3-4 Effects of 7 weeks of diet feeding on ITT in dairy group	. 39
Figure 3-5. Area of the curve AOC for the ITT	. 40
Figure 3-6 Effects of 7 weeks of diet feeding on PTT in HFD vs LFD	. 41
Figure 3-7 Effects of 7 weeks of diet feeding on PTT in dairy group.	. 42
Figure 3-8 Total area under the curve data for the PTT	. 42
Figure 3-9 Epididymal fat weight	. 43
Figure 3-10 MRI-measured body composition for mice	. 44
Figure 3-11 Liver weight	. 44
Figure 3-12 Serum TG	. 45
Figure 3-13 Serum NEFA	. 46
Figure 3-14 Liver TG	. 46
Figure 3-15 ALT activity	. 47
Figure 3-16 Liver histology	. 49
Figure 3-17 Photo microscopic images of liver tissue	. 49
Figure 3-18 protein abundance of (A) PEPCK and (B) G6Pase	. 50
Figure 4-1 Weekly Body weight for female mice	. 52
Figure 4-2 effect of 7 weeks of diet feeding on ITT female mice	.52
Figure 4-3 effect of 7 weeks of diet feeding on PTT female mice	.53
Figure 5-1 Proposed mechanism through which higher intakes of dairy fat in general	, or
trans-palmitoleic acid in particular, may affect fasting glucose concentrations	. 60
Figure 5-2 Metabolic effects of whey protein.	. 65

# List of Abbreviations

15:0C: Pentadecanoic acid

- ALT: Alanine aminotransferase
- ANOVA: Analysis of variance
- AST: Aspartate aminotransferase
- ATP: Adenosine triphosphate
- AUC: Area under the curve
- BCAAs: Branched chain aminoacids
- BW: Body weight
- FBG: Fasting blood glucose
- Ca2+: Calcium
- CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
- CLA: Cis-9, trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid
- ddH2O: Distilled water
- DPP-4: Dipeptidyl peptidase-4
- ER: Endoplasmic reticulum stress
- FAS: Fatty acid synthase
- FFA: Free fatty acids
- Foxa2: Forkhead box protein A2
- G6Pase: Glucose 6-phosphatase
- GAPDH: Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
- GIP: Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide
- GLP-1: Glucagon-like peptide 1
- GLUT: Glucose transporter
- GPR40: Free fatty acid receptor 1
- HbA1C: Glycated hemoglobin A
- HDL: High density lipoprotein

HFD: high fat diet

- HOMA-IR: Homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance
- iAUC: Incremental area under the curve
- IDF: International Diabetes Federation
- IGT: Impaired glucose tolerance
- IR: Insulin resistance
- IRS: Insulin receptor substrate
- ITT: Insulin tolerance test
- K: Potassium
- KATP: ATP sensitive potassium channel
- LDL: Low density lipoprotein
- LFD: Low fat diet
- MCD: methionine- and choline-deficient diet
- MetS: Metabolic syndrome
- MFGE8: milk fat globule-epidermal growth factor 8
- MFGM: Milk fat globule membrane
- mTOR: Mammalian target of rapamycin
- NASH: Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis
- NAFLD: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
- NEFA: non-esterified fatty acids
- OAA: Oxaloacetate
- OGTT: Oral glucose tolerance test
- PC/LPC species: Phosphatidylcholine/Lysophosphatidylcholine
- PEPCK: Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase
- PEP: phosphoenolpyruvate
- PL: Polar lipid
- PTT: pyruvate tolerance test
- PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acid

- RCTs: Randomized controlled trials
- **RT:** Room temperature
- SFAs: Saturated fatty acids
- SREBP-1: Sterol element binding protein 1
- T2D: Type 2 diabetes
- TG: Triglycerides
- t-16:1n-7C: Trans-palmitoleate
- TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
- VLDL: very- low-density lipoprotein

# **Chapter 1** : Introduction

### **1.1** Diabetes Prevalence and Diagnosis

Diabetes is the fastest-growing chronic disease worldwide. The prevalence of diabetes in the world was 6.4% in 2010 (1) and the estimated number of individuals with diagnosed diabetes will be increased by 54% in 2030 (1). Type 2 Diabetes (T2D) or noninsulin dependent diabetes is the most common type and accounts for about 91% of diabetes cases (2). Insulin resistance (IR) and beta-cell dysfunction are the key factors for T2D development (3). T2D is caused by a combination of genetic and environmental factors that influence beta-cell activity and tissue insulin sensitivity (liver, adipose tissue, and pancreas) (3). People at risk for T2D, such as those with obesity, show an early symptom of IR due to low-grade inflammation originating largely in the expanded white adipose tissue, leading to insulin hypersecretion from pancreatic beta-cells to compensate for the insulin demand. Insulin sensitivity is reduced by 30% in obese with normal blood glucose levels (euglycemic) compared to lean people (4). This compensation process continues until insulin secretion is no longer enough to maintain the physiological range of blood glucose concentration. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), prediabetes is a critical health condition where blood glucose levels are higher than normal but not high enough to be identified as diabetes. The fasting blood glucose (FBG) in prediabetes is 6.1-7 mmol/L, while in diabetes, it is  $\geq 7 \text{ mmol/L}$  (5). In the USA, 1 in every three adults has prediabetes. This condition could last for up to 15 years before the diagnosis of diabetes (4); therefore, early intervention can lead to diabetes prevention. Figure 1–1 summarizes the contribution of genetic and environmental factors to the pathophysiology of T2D (3).



Abbreviation: NEFA, Non-esterified fatty acid. TNF- α: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha. IGT, impaired glucose tolerance.

Figure 1-1 Contribution of genetic predisposition and environment factors in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes and interplay between defective insulin secretion and insulin resistance leading to a vicious circle explaining the progression from impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) to type 2 diabetes and the progressive aggravation of the disease. Adapted from Scheen 2003. (4)

# 1.2 Insulin Physiology

Insulin is a peptide hormone that consists of 2 polypeptides chains, A (21 amino acid residues) and B (30 amino acid residues), which are linked together by two disulfide bonds (6). It is produced in the beta-cells of the islets of Langerhans of the pancreas in response to glucose, which is the main secretagogue, and other nutrients. When the plasma glucose concentration is above 3.3 mmol/L (8), glucose is transported into beta-cells mainly via GLUT1 and 3 in humans and GLUT2 in rodents, then phosphorylated by glucokinase (8). An increase in ATP concentration due to metabolization of glucose leads to closure of K<sub>ATP</sub> channels, leading to membrane depolarization, opening of voltage gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels, Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, increased intracellular calcium concentration, and finally

exocytosis of insulin granules. In the resting state, K<sup>+</sup> efflux through an open K<sup>ATP</sup> channel maintains the beta-cell membrane at a negative potential where the Ca<sup>2+</sup> voltage channel is closed (6). Insulin is transported via the portal circulation to exert its action and for its clearance by the liver, the half-life of insulin is 3-5 min, and up to 80% of the insulin is cleared through the liver (9).

The "fuel sensing" beta-cells are stimulated to release insulin in response to high blood glucose levels, typically after the body consume carbohydrate rich meal. Blood glucose concentrations are significantly affected by nutrient intake and energy expenditure such as fasting and exercise. To keep blood glucose concentration within the normal range, the pancreas switches the release of insulin and glucagon to regulate glucose uptake and hepatic glucose production (8).

Insulin plays an important role in regulating carbohydrate, lipid, and amino acid metabolism (8). Insulin stimulates utilization and storage of glucose as glycogen in the liver by activating glucokinase and glycogen synthase, thus increasing glycogen storage. In addition, insulin inhibits glucose production and release by suppressing hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis (10). Insulin stimulates skeletal muscle's glucose uptake by promoting the expression and translocation of GLUT4, an insulin-regulated glucose transporter, to the cell membrane (11). Moreover, insulin stimulates amino acid uptake in skeletal muscle and promotes protein synthesis and glycogen storage. Adipocytes are also highly insulin responsive, and insulin enhances triglyceride synthesis and storage, stimulates glucose transport, and inhibits lipolysis in adipose tissue (12). Suppose insulin secretion and/or action is disturbed. In that case, insulin-sensitive tissues

are unable to generate a coordinated normal glucose-lowering response that includes suppression of endogenous glucose production, suppression of lipolysis, and net synthesis of glycogen, thus requiring increased insulin secretion to compensate for insulin resistance. Therefore, plasma glucose concentration rises, causing hyperglycemia, and if not treated, the condition can progress to T2D (13). Understanding the pathophysiology of IR is necessary to understand T2D development better.

### 1.3 Insulin Resistance

Insulin resistance (IR) is a complex metabolic disorder in which the body's cells are not responding properly to secreted insulin (15). This condition is commonly seen in obese and older adults; however, young, and lean individuals are also shown to be affected (15). In insulin-dependent cells, proper insulin signaling is crucial because when insulin sensitivity is impaired, the entry of glucose into adipocytes and skeletal muscle cells is reduced (14). IR is a leading risk factor for diabetes, atherosclerosis, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), and obesity-related cancers (15). Multiple factors drive the development of IR, such as gluco-lipotoxicity, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and an increase in the level of pro-inflammatory cytokines (16). Obesity is a chronic inflammatory condition that has been linked to T2D and IR (17). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) is one of the critical pro-inflammatory mediators that causes low-grade inflammation in vital organs and leads to IR (18). It does so by reducing the expression of GLUT4 in adipose tissue and muscle, inducing serine phosphorylation of IRS-1, thus impairing peripheral insulin signaling (16,17). TNF- $\alpha$  inhibits beta-oxidation, increases plasma FFAs, and inhibits lipoprotein lipase (18). TNF- $\alpha$  stimulates lipolysis by reducing the

expression of cell death-inducing DFF45-like effector C which plays an important role in regulating TG accumulation and lipolysis in adipocytes (19). Increased lipolysis in turn increases serum non-esterified fatty acid (NEFA) and contribute to the development of IR (18).

Adiponectin is a fat cell-derived peptide, and its receptors are expressed mainly in adipocytes (20). Adiponectin abundance is positively correlated with insulin sensitivity, and its expression is reduced in obese humans and mice (10). Body weight loss significantly enhances plasma adiponectin and improves IR (21). Studies have shown that adiponectin reduces plasma FFAs and stimulates fatty acid oxidation by increasing the expression of involved genes (10,22). Adiponectin reduces the TG content in the liver and muscle tissue by activating protein phosphorylation activator receptor-alpha, which regulates the genes involved in beta-oxidation; furthermore, adiponectin suppresses gluconeogenesis (20). All these mechanisms are suggested to explain the role of adiponectin as a potential treatment for IR (20). Resistin is also a hormone secreted by adipocytes. Its expression level increases in obese mice (10), and its overexpression reduces insulin function at target tissues (23). A study reported that serum resistin positively correlated with body fat content (24). Treatment with anti-resistin antibody improves blood glucose and insulin action in mice with diet-induced obesity (10). A systemic review and meta-analysis concluded that in T2D and obese people, resistin level is positively correlated with IR (23). Many other possible underlying mechanisms are proposed to be involved in IR, as shown in Table 1–1.

# Table 1—1 Molecular mechanism involved in insulin resistance adapted from Peters, Yaribeygi et al. 2019 (14).

Molecular mechanism	Role in insulin resistance	
Inflammatory mediators and adipokines	Decreases GLUT-4 expression, reduces IRS-1	
Free radical overload	Activates inflammatory responses	
Obesity and adipocytes importance	Inflammation and impaired insulin signaling	
Accelerated insulin degradation	Autoimmune antibodies against insulin or abnormal insulin structure due to mutation	
Mitochondrial dysfunction	Oxidative stress, impaired insulin signaling	
Reduced the capacity of receptors to binding to insulin	Decrease in the number of insulin receptors, reduction in functional receptors due to mutation, autoimmune antibodies against insulin receptors.	
Mutations of GLUT-4	Inhibits glucose entering into dependent cells and impairs subsequent signaling pathways.	
ER stress	Disrupts proper protein folding leading to accumulation of misfolded proteins.	

ER stress: endoplasmic reticulum stress; IRS-1: insulin receptor substrates-1

## 1.4 IR and NAFLD

IR is the most common finding in NAFLD (25). Chronic elevation of plasma insulin in IR promotes hepatic lipogenesis and excessive TG accumulation in patients with NAFLD; therefore, NAFLD is strongly associated with metabolic syndrome and T2D (26). Several factors, such as hyperinsulinemia and hyperglycemia, along with elevated FFAs and pro-inflammatory cytokines levels, may alter insulin signaling in various tissues. These metabolic changes that develop and worsen IR are frequently observed in obese and NAFLD patients and predispose them to T2D development (11). Hepatic steatosis is associated with impaired insulin action in the liver, adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle, therefore, IR predicts NAFLD development (27).

In IR conditions, glucose transport is impaired in adipose tissue. However, sensitivity to the antilipolytic insulin effect is relatively maintained, resulting in preserving or expanding adipose stores (12). Furthermore, in IR, fat accumulation in the liver and

muscle is due to the outflow of FFA as a result of inadequate suppression of lipolysis in adipose tissue (11). In NAFLD, inability of insulin to suppress lipolysis in adipose tissue, leads to an increase in FFA released to the liver and an increase in de novo lipogenesis, which results from increased expression of the lipogenic enzyme through activation of the transcription factor SREBP1-c, both increases TG synthesis and decreases fatty acid beta-oxidation (27). Forkhead transcription factor (Foxa-2) stimulates hepatic fatty acid oxidation. However, it is inactivated by phosphorylation by either insulin receptor substrates 1 and 2 (IRS1 or IRS2) signaling pathways. In IR, Foxa2 remains sensitive to insulin, which suppresses its activity, inhibiting FFAs oxidation and causing lipid accumulation (25). Hepatic lipid overload also causes oxidative stress leading to mitochondrial dysfunction, exacerbating inflammation, and activating inflammatory pathways (11). Early normalization of insulin production and secretion is crucial in preventing and reversing obesity, IR, and T2D. Many possible dietary approaches are known to lower insulin, which may improve obesity and insulin sensitivity.

## **1.5 Dairy Consumption and Risk of Diabetes**

Many studies have shown that dietary intervention programs significantly prevent and delay T2D in high-risk people (28–33). A study mentioned that implementing a prevention program and lifestyle adjustment, including a healthy diet and exercise, can prevent or delay about half of the new cases of diabetes; such programs can also prevent its complications (33).

Dairy, such as milk, yogurt, and cheese, is recommended as part of healthy foods, and 2-3 dairy servings/day is suggested by US dietary guidelines for adults and

adolescents (34). Dairy consumption impacts on human health have been investigated in extensive prospective cohort studies and limited randomized controlled trials (RCTs) (35). Many systematic reviews and meta-analyses of observational trials have been conducted to evaluate the association of dairy intake and risk of T2D. The results suggested overall beneficial effect (36–41).

A systemic review and meta-analyses published in 2018 that included studies from America, Asia, Europe, and Oceania evaluated the relationship between dairy and risk of metabolic syndrome (36). In the dose response meta-analysis, they used 6 studies including 3 cohort studies (2227 cases and 9259 participants) and 3 cross-sectional studies (4775 cases and 19818 participants) and found that 200 g/day of milk was associated with 13% lower risk of metabolic syndrome. Another meta-analyses looked at the association of dairy intake and risk of metabolic syndrome in 20 studies and found that the highest milk consumption was associated with 26% lower risk of MetS in elderly people compared to no milk consumption (42). The systematic review has long been thought to provide the greatest level of research evidence as they combine all available data, nevertheless additional data from randomized controlled trials is necessary to verify the observational studies, which cannot control for all possible confounding variables. The epidemiological data (34,38–40,43,44), and some RCTs (39,41) suggested a neutral or mild inverse association of dairy intake with diabetes risk and improvement of insulin sensitivity, which is mainly consistent for yogurt. Systemic review and meta analysis of cohort study found that yogurt consumption has a beneficial effect on body weight and reduces obesity risk, the leading risk factor for T2D (40). Eleven studies from metaanalysis of observational studies suggested that milk consumption is not associated with

diabetes risk, and cheese intake also has no association with T2D (35). However, another study suggested high-fat total dairy and cheese intake had a dose-dependent inverse association with T2D (34). A summary of evidence was published in a meta-analysis that included 22 cohort studies, 579,832 participants, and 43,118 T2D cases, and the results indicated that total dairy intake was inversely associated with T2D risk (35).

On the other hand, the interventional trials are less consistent, with four out of 10 studies in a systematic review of short-and long-term intervention studies suggesting a positive relationship between dairy intake and insulin sensitivity (45). In this systematic review most of the trials were very small and some trials were of healthy people who were assumed to be insulin sensitive. One trial of healthy people had a negative effect and 2 had no difference, therefore in order for benefits of dairy to be observed, a baseline defect in insulin sensitivity might be needed. Also, some studies were very short duration while the author pointed out that studies with a duration of 12-24 weeks had consistent benefits.

T2D and its complications are increasing, and there is rising evidence of clinically significant sex disparities. T2D is more commonly diagnosed in men when they are younger and have a lower BMI (46); nevertheless, the most significant risk factor, obesity, is more prevalent in women (46). Yet, the epidemiological evidence about sex-specific effects on dairy consumption and diabetes risk are very limited. A systemic review and meta-analysis showed that in adult men, high milk consumption was inversely associated with hypertriglyceridemia, while elderly women showed lower HDL cholesterol with high milk intake (42). Another study included 37,038 women concluded that higher dairy product intake during adolescence is associated with lower risk of T2D (47). While obese

postmenopausal women showed reduced risk of diabetes in response to higher intake of low-fat dairy products (48). Other studies suggested significant association between dairy intake and lower risk of diabetes in women than men (49–51).

The relationship between dairy fat and diabetes risk is uncertain. Some studies linked each specific fatty acid with the risk of diabetes. For instance, even-chain saturated fatty acids (SFAs) like myristic acid, palmitic acid, and stearic acid are associated with higher T2D risk. Markers of dairy fat intake like pentadecanoic acid (C15:0) and heptadecanoic acid (C17:0) are odd-chain SFAs, and are inversely correlated with risk of metabolic disease (52). A systemic review and meta-analysis of observational studies suggested a protective effect of odd chain fatty acids against incident of T2D and showed that C15:0 was inversely associated with the pro-inflammatory mediator TNF- $\alpha$  (53). The same paper reported that higher odd-chain SFAs inversely associated with lower total cholesterol and TG (53). Even though the evidence is reasonably consistent about the benefits of dairy consumption on human health, the mechanisms of beneficial effects are not known precisely. However, animal studies tend to support the overall observations in humans. A study evaluated the effect of low dose supplementation of C15:0 in C57BI/6J mice for 90 days. The result showed reduced pro-inflammatory mediators such as Interleukin 6, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1(MCP-1), and cytokine compared to non-supplemented control (54). The same study also found lower glucose, cholesterol, and body weight gain in response to C15:0 intake while only a high dose of C17:0 reduced the serum MCP-1 (54). Odd-chain fatty acids also inversely associates with NAFLD and supplementation with odd-chain SFAs is shown to improve hepatic steatosis (39,55). Another study suggested that dairy fat in cheese form significantly reduces total

cholesterol compared to the same amount of fat in other matrices (56). Even though the evidence is reasonably consistent about the benefits of dairy consumption on human health, the mechanisms of beneficial effects are not known precisely.

### 1.6 Previous Animal Trials for Dairy and Risk of T2D

Since human trials of dairy interventions are limited, animal trials have been conducted to study the impact of dairy consumption on glucose homeostasis to detect whether dairy intake can lower the risk of diabetes and the potential mechanisms for those effects. Calcium, protein, and fat have been examined as potential mediators of dairy's metabolic effects.

In animal model research studies, dairy calcium was suggested to prevent weight and fat regain (57). Also, calcium might suppress hepatic and adipose lipogenesis by its effect on leptin and Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) signaling, decreased calcitriol level, and change in gut microbiota composition (58). Another study observed that a high calcium diet increased weight gain and hyperphagia compared to dairy calcium intake, which showed a preventive effect, suggesting that it is not the calcium responsible for these effects but other dairy components (59). An additional proposed hypothesis for calcium-related weight improvement is binding fat to calcium, then excreting the fat as calcium salt in the feces (60).

Dairy protein could be another explanation for dairy's effect on glucose homeostasis. A study showed that total dairy protein intake could prevent fat mass buildup in rats more than casein or whey alone during ad libitum high fat, high sugar feeding

(60). The potential mechanism of dairy protein for metabolic improvement might be through enhancement of weight loss and appetite control in addition to stimulation of protein synthesis, skeletal muscle growth, and function (61). Many studies investigated the effect of dairy fat on metabolic outcomes in obese animals. Supplementing sphingomyelin, which is part of the polar lipid of milk in mice fed HFD causes improvement in hepatic steatosis by reducing hepatic cholesterol and TG(55). Furthermore, adding odd chain fatty acids 15:0C to mice fed methionine-choline deficient for 4 weeks showed a protective effect against liver injury with decrease in AST and normalizing liver weight, suggesting improvement in the liver function due to odd chain fatty acid consumption (55).

Previous work from our lab suggested that trans-11 vaccenic acid, which is found in dairy, can improve glucose homeostasis by enhancing insulin secretion and the growth of islets in diabetic rats. This effect was associated with increased GPR40, a fat signaling protein found on beta-cells and the key protein mediating free fatty acid potentiation of insulin (62,63). Many studies suggested that milk consumption was associated with lower adiposity and increased insulin sensitivity(64–69). Furthermore, fermented milk enhances glucose and lipid metabolism by decreasing body weight and circulating glucose, besides eliciting dyslipidemia and insulin sensitivity (70).

The effect of yogurt intake on glucose homeostasis was evident in many studies (71–74). All studies suggested that yogurt modulates gut microbiota and alters hepatic lipid metabolism to regulate glucose homeostasis. A study evaluating the effect of ripening duration observed that 35 days of ripening duration improved glucose tolerance

and showed a significant reduction in adipose tissue along with a decrease in hepatic lipid content (75).

A study conducted in our lab in 2017 investigated the effect of low fat and high fat (LF/HF) cheese on glucose homeostasis in prediabetic and diabetic rat models. The results showed increased hepatic insulin sensitivity during the insulin tolerance test for HF and LF cheese in prediabetic groups. In contrast, only LF cheese improved glucose tolerance among the diabetic group. The study suggested that cheese consumption (LF/HF) may enhance glucose homeostasis in the prediabetic model, while only LF cheese improved glucose tolerance in the diabetic model (76). Table 1–2 shows a summary of experiments studying the effect of dairy on glucose homeostasis in animals.

Table 1—2 Rodent studies feeding milk, yogurt, or cheese and their effects on glucose
homeostasis

Authors/country, year.	Aim	Type of dairy	Treatment details	Finding
Song et al. Korea 2016	To investigate the antidiabetic effect of fermented milk containing CLA on type 2 diabetes mice.	Fermented milk (FM+CLA)	32 male, diabetic C57BL/KsJ-db/db mice and 8 normalC57mice. Feeding for 6 weeks	FM+CLA ↓body weight and FBG in diabetic mice. Improved OGTT, ITT ↑HDL, ↓LDL&TG ↓Hepatic enzymes Improved hepatic ballooning
Matsumoto et al. Japan 2009	To determine whether the beneficial effects of cow milk on reduced insulin sensitivity are experimentally reproducible using normal dose of cow milk in rats.	Dextrine based diet vs Sucrose based diet. Cowmilk CM vs artificial milk AM.	24 male F344 rats. Feeding for 7weeks	CM Improved OGTT ↓ insulin,↓FBG, and ↓fructosamine

Yoshimura et al. Brazil 2018	To evaluate the supplementation with milk naturally enriched with PUFA and polyphenols in rats with diabetes.	Whole milk (COM-M) vs milk enriched with PUFA (PUFA+M) vs milk enriched with PUFA+ polyphenols (PUFA/P+M).	40 male, streptozotocin- treated diabetic, Wistar rats. Feeding for 35 days	COM-M Improved OGTT ↓Fructosamine PUFA+M ↓LDL, ↓FBG PUFA/P+M ↓LDL, ↑GCM mass
Eller et al. Canada 2010	To determine the effect of different ca-enriched dairy protein sources on weight gain in obese Sprague- Dawley rats.	Skim milk powder (SMP) vs casein vs whey protein	64 high-fat, high- fructose diet obese Sprague-Dawley rats. Feeding for 8weeks.	SMP ↓body fat% ↓body weight ↓FBG Improved HOMA-IR ↓SREBP1c
Trinchese et al. Italy 2018	To evaluate whether skeletal muscle mitochondrial function, efficiency and dynamics is differently affected by cow, human, and donkey milk, supplementation.	Cow milk vs human milk vs donkey milk.	28 male Wistar rats. Feeding for 4 weeks.	Cow milk ↑body weight ↑leptin ↓ adiponectin
Kergoat et al. France 1992	To examine whether chronic milk feeding leads to an impairment of insulin-mediated glucose metabolism.	Raw cow milk (RCM)	Female Wistar rats. Feeding for 18 days.	RCM ↓hepatic glucose production.
Yamin et al. Israel 2013	To assess whether long term supplementation with low or whole fat milk would differentially affect body weight, hormone secretion, and key metabolic pathway in liver and white adipose tissue in newly weaned mice.	3% milk vs 1% milk	Male newly weaned C57BL/6 mice. Feeding for 17weeks.	3% milk ↑body weight and food intake ↓FBG ↓ hepatic FAS ↓WAT FAS
Qu et al. China 2018	To explore the mechanism of bioactivity of Lac- Q14 as starter culture in fermented yogurt in diabetic rats.	Yogurt/Lac-Q14 (Y/L- Q14) separated from yak yogurt	40 male Wistar rats. FBG>11.1mmol/L treatment for 13 weeks	Y/L-Q14 Improved OGTT ↓G6P and PEPCK expression(liver). ↑GLP-1 ↓TG, LDL.
Lasker et al. Bangladesh 2019	To determine the effects of yogurt supplementation on fat deposition, oxidative stress,	HFD+ yogurt	24 male, diet- induced obese, Wistar rats. Feeding for 8weeks.	Yogurt ↓body weight Improved OGTT ↓FBG Improved hepatic

	inflammation and fibrosis in the liver of obese rats.			steatosis ↓AST,↓TG,↓LDL Normalize oxidative stress markers.
Miao et al. China 2012	To assess if Synbiotic can improve the survival of bacteria crossing the upper part of the gastrointestinal tract. Thereby enhancing their effects in the large bowel. In addition, their effects might be additive or even synergistic.	Commercial yogurt (CY) vs synbiotic supplemented fermented milk (SSFM).	100 Wistar rats (50 males and 50 females) divided into 5 groups of diet. Feeding for 30 days.	SSFM ↓glucose level ↓TG
Johnson et al. USA 2007	To examined whether yogurt supplementation attenuated the weight gain and insulin resistance in mice.	Dried yogurt powder (DYP)	113 F1 generation male mice fed moderate-fat diet. Feeding for 4 weeks.	DYP ↓body weight ↑basal glucose uptake in adipose tissue ↑ energy content of feces.
Hanning et al. Canada 2018	To determine effects on glucose and insulin tolerance of feeding LF or HF to rats fed a HFD.	HFD+cheese(LF/HF).	64 male prediabetic Sprague-Dawley rats fed HFD. Treatment for 8 weeks	LF/HF cheese ↑ body weight. Improved ITT ↓ G6Pase (liver). Normalized certain PC/LPC species in serum.
Geurts et al. France 2012	To determine the influence of administration of dairy (cheese- based) products on glucose tolerance, hepatic lipid content, and profiles.	0,15, and 35 days of ripening cheese.	30 db/db male C57BL/6. Feeding for 4 weeks	35 days ripened cheese Improved glucose tolerance ↓oxidative stress markers ↓hepatic lipid content ↓mRNA expression of FAS

Abbreviations: CLA-conjugated linoleic acid, FBG-fasting blood glucose, OGTT-oral glucose tolerance test, ITT-insulin tolerance test, HDL-high density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-low density lipoprotein cholesterol, TG-triglyceride, TC-total cholesterol, LF-low fat, HFD-high fat diet, ALT-alanine transaminase, G6P-glucose 6 phosphatase, PC-phosphatidylcholine, LPC-lysophosphatidylcholine, GLUT2-glucose transporter 2, Lac-Q14-Lactobacillus casie, PEPCK-phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase, GCM-gastrocnemius muscle, GLP-1-glucagon like peptide-1, PUFA-polyunsaturated fatty acid, ALT/ALP ratio-alanine transaminase/alkaline phosphatase ratio, DIO-diet induced obesity, HOMA-IR-homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance, SREBP1c-sterol regulatory element-binding transcription factor1, PPAR gamma-peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma, FAS-fatty acyl synthase, WAT-white adipose tissue, L casei-lactobacillus casei, FFAs- free fatty acids, F1 generation-cross between BTBR males and C57Bl6 females.

These studies show that milk, yogurt, and cheese intake can improve metabolic risk markers besides their beneficial effect as a rich source of valuable micronutrients. Also, they can potentially use various physiological activities, including reduced body weight and enhanced glucose tolerance. Moreover, dairy consumption showed improvement in lipid metabolism, which is independent of weight change. Epidemiological evidence seems to support the inverse association between dairy consumption and its potential impact on counteracting chronic diseases such as type 2 diabetes. However, significant variability in the studies' focus, duration of treatment, and type of animals with different physiological backgrounds contributed to the result's differences. Lately, experts have suggested that considering the food as a whole instead of looking at specific nutrients, as the combination of food elements and their structure could change their physiological effects (77).

### 1.7 Dairy Matrix

Foods contain many different nutrients that are connected in a complex structure called the food matrix (78). The structure of the food and the nutrients within will determine the nutrient digestion and absorption and affect the food's whole nutritional properties. The food matrix may affect health differently compared to single nutrients. Traditionally, the relationship between health and diet was assessed based on individual food components such as protein, fat, carbohydrate, and micronutrients separately. While most current dietary guidelines include dairy products as part of a healthy diet, they recommend low-fat or fat-free versions to reduce saturated fat intake (78) this strategy does not consider any potential benefits of a food matrix that includes fats.

Dairy components including fat, protein (whey and casein), calcium, magnesium, phosphate, potassium, and milk fat globule membrane (MFGM) are probably the main reasons for the beneficial effects of dairy on human health (39). MFGM is the biological membrane that encases milk's lipid droplets, and all high-fat dairy is rich in MFGM (except butter) (79), However, low fat dairy, in particular buttermilk, is the greatest source of MFGM (80). Dairy's form and matrix influence its effect on wellbeing (81). The physical state of the dairy food could impact appetite and gastric emptying. For instance, a study found that intake of solid dairies such as cheese and yogurt inhibited hunger more than liquid dairy like milk (82). Traditional dairy foods are believed to be "functional" foods that possibly prevent disease (81). The functional properties depend on the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of dairy food (81). The bioaccessibility of a nutritional component is represented by its release from its food matrix into the gastrointestinal system, where the bioavailability is represented by the fraction that is absorbed and reaches the bloodstream (81).

Cow's milk has 32 g of protein per liter, making it an excellent supply of essential amino acids, with a wide range of biological activities, including antimicrobial, enzymes, and growth factors. Dairy protein contains casein and whey protein in an 80:20 ratio, both are absorbed at various times after digestion, implying a natural time-dependent mechanism for amino acid and peptide distribution (83). Dairy protein has been shown to improve satiety as a direct result of particular peptides, in addition to the satiety effects of intact casein and whey protein. According to the same study, specific peptides known as glycol-macropeptides are produced during the cheese production process. These

peptides have been found to activate pancreatic and stomach satiety hormones compared to whey protein alone (81).

Potassium is an intracellular cation and plays important roles in cellular function, membrane polarization, energy metabolism and fluid balance (84). Abnormal potassium homeostasis can lead to heart, muscle, and nerve dysfunction. Dairy is rich in potassium and makes a significant contribution to dietary potassium intake. Eight ounces of yogurt contains 352 mg and a cup of whole milk provides 349 mg of potassium (84). WHO recommends a potassium intake of at least 3510 mg/day for adults (84). Dairy consumption in the US population is below the recommended intake, which in part contributes to inadequate dietary potassium intake (84).

Choline is a vital nutrient and is present in all cells as a precursor for phospholipid production, such as phosphatidylcholine (PC) and sphingomyelin (SM). Both are found in the cell membrane and play crucial roles in cell signaling (80). Choline impacts liver function and is required for very low-density lipoprotein VLDL production to transporter fat from the liver. Low choline is found to be associated with fatty liver and liver damage (85). Dairy products are a good source of choline, and milk has about 32.9 mg total choline, 2.2 mg PC, and 1.1 mg SM per serving (86). It is clear that the dairy matrix impacts its physiological effect, but how much dairy should we take to get its benefits?

## 1.8 Comparison of Recommended and Actual Doses of Dairy Used in Research

Dairy amount recommendations vary worldwide, ranging from 1-5 servings/day (87). In Canada, the 2019 update of Canada's Food Guide considers dairy part of the protein group and does not specify a recommended amount, while the US guideline

recommends 3 servings/day as part of a healthy dietary pattern. The recommended serving size is 250 ml of milk, 175 g of yogurt, and 50 g of cheese (87). Several human research studies have evaluated the effect of dairy dose and type on health outcomes. A meta-analysis of observational studies found a different amount of dairy intake was associated with a lower risk of MetS (36); a summary of these findings is presented in Table 1–3.

Table 1—3 Summary of the association of dairy dose and type with the risk of T2D adapted from Lee et al 2018 (36)

Type of dairy	No. of studies	Amount of dairy	Finding
Total dairy	9	200g/day	associated with 9% lower MetS risk.
Milk	6	200g/day	associated with 13% lower MetS risk
Yogurt	3	100g/day	associated with 18% lower MetS risk

In a meta-analysis of 22 prospective cohort studies on dairy intake, small protective linear associations of T2D risk for total and low-fat milk intake were observed that were dose-dependent (3% and 4% risk reduction, per 200 g/day) (35). A non-linear association for yogurt intake with 80 g/day having the lowest risk (14% risk reduction), with no additional benefit seen above this dose (35). This result aligned with the result from Framingham Heart Study Offspring cohort. The study investigated the relationships between dairy product intake and long-term risk of prediabetes in healthy participants and risk of T2D among people with prediabetes in the middle-aged adult cohort (34). In this study, total, low-fat, and high-fat dairy consumption was associated with 39%, 32%, and 25% lower risk of incident prediabetes, respectively. Prediabetes Incidence was

nonlinearly associated with total, low-fat, skim milk, whole milk, and yogurt intakes. Only high-fat dairy and cheese showed evidence of dose-responsive, inverse associations with incident T2D, with 70% and 63% lower risk, respectively.

Another meta-analysis published 2019 showed that total dairy product consumption was inversely associated with the risk of MetS (9 studies). Low-fat dairy and total yogurt consumption were inversely associated with the risk of MetS (2 studies and 4 studies respectively). Low-fat yogurt and whole-fat yogurt were inversely associated with the risk of MetS (2 studies each). Total milk consumption was inversely associated with the risk of MetS (6 studies). No association between whole-fat dairy consumption with MetS risk. The findings indicate that the consumption of total and low-fat dairy products, milk, and yogurt is inversely associated with the risk of MetS (37).

A comprehensive study of dairy product intake in the multicentric European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) cohort of European populations found that; Europeans consume high amounts of dairy compared to American and Asian populations (88). The study showed that intake of 286 g/day in women and 250 g/day in men was not associated with T2D risk for total dairy or milk intake; however, yogurt and fermented milk consumption were associated with decreased risk of T2D. The same study suggested that cheese intake was inversely associated with the risk of T2D and persisted even with increased amounts of cheese intake (88).

Animal models have been used in some studies to evaluate the effects of dairy consumption on diabetes-related outcomes. Based on my literature review, varying amounts of dairy were used in animal experiments. Rat models have been widely used

to evaluate the relationship between dairy intake and its effect on health outcomes. The amount of milk provided ranged from 22-25ml or 5% of the body weight; these amounts resulted in a significant beneficial effect on glucose and lipid metabolism by decreasing FBG, improving hepatic steatosis, and reducing inflammation (64,65,68,72,89). In the mouse studies, the dose was inconsistent. Some studies did not mention how much dairy was given, providing ad libitum dairy consumption (90,91). Other studies specified the amount of dairy such as 100g/kg of the diet for cheese, which is about 300 mg (75), 10.75g/100g of diet for yogurt intervention which is about 323 mg (90), while the milk intake in the mouse studies ranged from 0.5 to 2 ml per day (92,93).

In summary, dairy products have beneficial effects on human health, particularly metabolism, which are well established and confirmed by a significant number of previous human studies and animal trials. However, no study compared different products of dairy and their effects on glucose and lipid metabolism in one experiment; also, the mechanism of these effects is unclear, and it is unknown if all dairy has the same mechanism of action.

This project aims to narrow this gap by comparing the effects of cheese, milk, and yogurt products with higher fat content on glucose homeostasis in prediabetic mice and exploring possible mechanisms. We hypothesize that dairy products including regular fat milk and yogurt have a similar effect to regular fat cheese on prediabetic mice by improving insulin sensitivity. However, the mechanism by which regular fat cheese, milk, and yogurt improve glucose and lipid metabolism could be different because milk is not a fermented dairy product like cheese and yogurt. Therefore, the objectives of this study are:

- 1. To define and compare the metabolic phenotype of prediabetic mice with respect to circulating glucose, insulin, total cholesterol, triglycerides, and in vivo insulin sensitivity after including regular fat milk, yogurt, or cheese in the diet.
- 2. Based on previous findings that cheese alters liver metabolic indices, compare glucose and lipid metabolism markers in the liver in response to regular fat milk, yogurt, and cheese intake in the prediabetic model.

# **Chapter 2** : Methods

### 2.1 In Vivo Protocols

## 2.1.1 Animal Treatment and Protocol

All animal protocols were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committees at the University of Alberta (animal use protocol AUP00003066). The guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care were followed for all procedures. 6-week-old C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River Canada (St. Constant, QC, Canada) and shipped to the University of Alberta. The mice were acclimatized to the facility for one week and housed as they arrived, with 4 sex-matched animals per cage under a reverse 12:12 light: dark cycle. A high-fat diet (HFD) was provided ad libitum to 4 groups of each sex to induce insulin resistance, while one group of each sex was provided a low-fat diet (LFD). After one week, the dairy product (Milk, Yogurt, Cheese) was provided 2 hours each day to individual mice from the same cage after 4 hours of fasting. HFD and LFD control groups were provided with half a Cheerio to control the handling and novel food supplied to the dairy groups. Dairy feeding was done 5 days/week for 8 weeks. The first week was considered a training period after which the mice readily consumed all dairy products. Body weight was monitored weekly, and the baseline was when I introduced HFD/LFD (one week before dairy started). Food intake was measured over 24 hours 3 times during the last week of the study. At week 7, the mice were randomized to undergo either an insulin tolerance test (ITT) or a pyruvate tolerance test (PTT).

We conducted 3 trials. In the first and second trials, we used 40 mice in each, 20 males and 20 females, but because the HFD failed to induce IR in female mice, we used only

male mice in the last trial. Thus, the total number of mice was 60 males (12 per group) and 40 females (8 per group) Figure 2–1.



Figure2-1Schematic diagram of experiment design

# 2.1.2 Diet

The mice were randomly distributed into 5 diet groups as follow:

- 1. High-fat control (HFD) with 45 kcal% fat.
- 2. Low-fat control (LFD) with 10 kcal% fat.
- 3. HFD+Milk (Lucerne 3.25 g% fat).
- 4. HFD+Yogurt (ACTIVIA with active probiotics, 2.9 g% fat).
- HFD+Cheese (Armstrong with 31 g% fat), it is similar to high fat cheese used in the cheese project (76). Table 2—1.
- For the control groups, we provided half of a plain Cheerio (General Mills) to control for handling, which might affect stress and, therefore, blood glucose and hormones Table 2–2
### Table 2—1 Dairy product classification according to milk fat %

Dairy used in this project	Milk fat %
Regular-fat Milk	3.25%
Regular-fat Yogurt	2.9%
Regular-fat Cheese OR High-fat Cheese	31%
Low-fat Cheese	20%

7. The dairy products were chosen because they are regularly consumed by Canadians and are palatable to mice. The ingredient composition of the HFD and LFD are summarized in Table 2–1. The macronutrient composition of each diet is summarized in Table 2–2.

Ingredients	HFD(D12451I)	LFD(D12450B)
Casein, 80 Mesh	233.1 g	189.6 g
Cystine, L	3.5 g	2.8 g
Starch, Corn	84.8 g	298.6 g
Maltodextrin 10	116.5 g	33.2 g
Sucrose	201.4 g	331.7 g
Cellulose, BW200	58.3 g	47.4 g
Soybean Oil	29.1 g	23.7 g
Lard	206.8 g	19 g
Mineral Mix S10026	11.7 g	9.5 g
Dicalcium phosphate	15.1 g	12.3 g
Calcium Carbonate	6.4 g	5.2 g
Potassium Citrate, 1 H2O	19.2 g	15.6g
Vitamin Mix V10001	11.7 g	9.5 g
Choline Bitartrate	2.3 g	1.9 g
FD&C	Red Dye#40	Yellow Dye#5
	0.06 g	0.05 g
Total	1000 g	1000 g
Kcal/g	4.73	3.85

#### Table 2—2 Composition of the experimental diets (g/kg)

Note: all values are adjusted to reflect weight in 1000 g of diet. HFD, High fat diet. LFD, Low fat diet.

# 2.1.3 Dairy dose calculation

The amount of dairy was calculated based on the body weight. The amount was supposed to be equivalent of two human adult servings of regular dairy product. The recommended serving size according to American guideline is 250 ml for milk, 175 gm for yogurt and 50 gm for cheese (87). Adult humans consume 2000 calories per day and one serving of milk has 150 calories, one serving of yogurt has 175 calories, and one serving of cheese has 200 calories. One serving of milk is equals to 7.5% of the total calories per day for adult human, while one serving of yogurt is equals to 8.75%, and one serving cheese is equals to 10% of total daily calories for human adult. Mice consume about 4 g of food (~16 Kcal/day) (94). The calculation and final amount of dairy foods are presented in Table 2—2. In the previous study the amount of cheese (31% fat cheddar cheese) was 1.85 g/ day. This was calculated based on the total rat food intake of 20.3 g/day and the diet containing 9.12 g of cheese/100 g of food (76).

	Calories/serving	Serving size	Total calories intake in human adult	Total calories intake in mice	Energy from one dairy serving for mice	1 serving of dairy for mice	2 serving equivalents of dairy for mice	What we gave in our trial
			2000	16				
3.25% milk	150	250 ml			1.2 Kcal	2 ml	4 ml	0.425 ml
2.9% yogurt	175	175 ml			1.4 Kcal	1.4 ml	2.8 ml	0.3 ml
31% cheddar cheese	200	50 g			1.6 Kcal	0.4 g	0.8 g	0.05 g

Table 2—3 Amount of dairy for mouse diets calculated according to serving sizes for human diets

	Milk	Milk (given to mice)	Yogurt	Yogurt(given to mice)	Cheese	Cheese (given to mice)
Measure (half serving)	125 ml	0.425 ml	87.5 ml	0.300 ml	25 g	0.05 g
Weight (g)	129	0.439	92.5	0.317142857	25	0.05
Energy (Kcal)	77.5	0.26	91.5	0.31	101	0.20
Energy (KJ)	323.5	1.10	383.5	1.31	424	0.85
Protein (mg)	4000	13.60	3500	12.00	6000	12.00
Carbohydrate (mg)	6000	20.40	15000	51.43	500	1.00
Total sugar (mg)	7000	23.80	12500	42.86	trace	trace
Total fat (mg)	4000	13.60	2000	6.86	8500	17.00
Saturated fat (mg)	2700	9.18	1150	3.94	5250	10.50
Cholesterol (mg)	13	0.04	8.5	0.03	26.5	0.05
Calcium (mg)	145.5	0.49	113.5	0.39	180.5	0.36
Average Choline* (mg)	16.45	0.06	12.8	0.04	7.1	0.01
Iron (mg)	0.05	0.00	0.05	0.00	0.15	0.00
Sodium (mg)	51.5	0.18	49	0.17	155.5	0.31
Potassium (mg)	184.5	0.63	167.5	0.57	24.5	0.05
Magnesium (mg)	13	0.04	10	0.03	7	0.01
Phosphorous (mg)	117.5	0.40	83.5	0.29	128	0.26
Vitamine A (RAE)	36	0.12	_	_	66.5	0.13
Vitamine D (mcg)	1.35	0.00	_	_	0.05	0.00
Folate (DFE)	6.5	0.02	_	_	4.5	0.01
Vitamine B12 (mcg)	0.565	0.00	0.155	0.00	0.21	0.00
Riboflavin (mg)	0.235	0.00	0.075	0.00	0.095	0.00

Table 2—4 Nutritional composition of experimental food, Milk, Yogurt, Cheese, (per half serving).

Abbreviation,mcg-microgram, RAE-rational activity equivalent, DFE- dietary folate equivalent. Value adjusted to half serving and to the equivalent amount given to the mice. Average choline\* adopted from C. Richard et al. / Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 45 (2016) 1–8 (86)

Table 2—5 Diet Macronutrient Composition expressed as % of Kcal for HFD, LFD, HFD+Milk,
HFD+Yogurt, and HFD+Cheese.

	HFD	LFD	HFD+Milk	HFD+Yogurt	HFD+Cheese
Protein	20%	20%	19.6%	19.5%	19.8%
Fat	45%	10%	44.2%	43.9%	44.5%
Carbohydrate	35%	70%	34.4%	34%	34.6%
Dairy protein	-	-	0.5%	0.4%	0.4%
Dairy fat	-	-	0.5%	0.3%	0.5%
Dairy carbohydrate	-	-	0.8%	1.8%	0.06%

Abbreviation, HFD:high fat diet. LFD:low fat diet

# 2.1.4 Insulin Tolerance Test (ITT)

The purpose of the ITT is to assess changes in insulin sensitivity (95) in response to Milk, Yogurt, and Cheese intake. ITT was performed on half of the animals in each diet group following 4 hours of fasting (n=30 males and 20 females). This fasting period was chosen to ensure that while insulin would have been cleared from circulation, glycogen stores would not have been depleted by prolonged fasting (95). Blood glucose concentration was measured from a tail vein sample using a glucometer (Contour Next, Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany) at time zero. Human insulin (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) was diluted using saline solution, and a dose of 26 µg/kg body weight was given intraperitoneally to the mice. Blood glucose was measured at 15, 30, 60, 90, and 120 minutes.

# 2.1.5 Pyruvate Tolerance Test (PTT)

The purpose of PTT is to measure hepatic gluconeogenesis upon provision of the substrate pyruvate (96). PTT was conducted on the other half of the animals (n=30 males and 20 females) following overnight fasting. Blood glucose was measured at time point 0 by glucometer (Contour Next, Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany), then sodium pyruvate solution was injected intraperitoneally at a dose of 2g/kg. Glucose was measured at 10, 20, 40, 60, 90, and 120 minutes.

## 2.2 Tissue Collection

Animals were fasted overnight prior to euthanasia at the end of the  $8^{th}$  week. Half of the animals (n=30) were injected with 13 µg/kg body weight of insulin in saline 10

minutes before euthanasia using CO<sub>2</sub>, and tissues were collected. A 500-1000 µl blood sample was collected by cardiac puncture, then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 4000 RPM and 4C to separate serum. Liver, epididymal fat, brown adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, ileum, and colon were removed, washed in saline, and weighed. Samples of liver, colon, and fat were prepared for histology by fixing in phosphate-buffered formalin. The remaining tissues were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C until further study.

#### 2.3 In Vitro Protocol

Serum obtained at the time of tissue collection from animals not injected with exogenous insulin was used to quantify endogenous fasting insulin secretion using ALPCO mouse insulin Elisa kit (Alpco, Salem, NH, USA). Serum was also used to measure plasma triglycerides (TG) and non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA) (Wako Pure Chemical Industries Ltd., Chuo-ku, Osaka, Japan). Direct colorimetric enzymatic reactions were conducted as per the manufacturer's instructions. ALT activity was measured in serum samples using a commercially available kit (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 2.3.1 Liver Lipid Content

Frozen liver samples of approximately 100 mg were washed with cold PBS, then resuspended and homogenized in 1 mL of 5% NP-40/ddH2O solution using a sonicator for 1 minute. Samples were then heated to 80 – 100°C in a water bath for 5 minutes until the solution became cloudy, then cooled down to room temperature. Samples were centrifuged for 2 minutes to remove any insoluble material. Finally, samples were diluted

to 10-fold with ddH2O before proceeding according to the kit manufacturer's instructions (Wako Pure Chemical Industries Ltd., Chuo-ku, Osaka, Japan).

#### 2.3.2 Immunoblotting

Approximately 100 mg of liver samples were weighed out and added to labeled 1.5 mL screw cap microtubes (DiaTEC, Kitchener, ON, Canada) with ~250 µL of 1mm glass beads (BioSpec Products, United States) and 300 µL of LIPA buffer. Samples were homogenized for 40 seconds two times with 5 minutes in between, with the samples kept on ice. Then all supernatant was aspirated into new microcentrifuge tubes. Tubes were centrifuged at 12,000 RPM for 20 minutes at 4°C. The protein concentration of each sample was determined using a colorimetric assay (in duplicate) using the modified LOWRY protein assay method. A microplate layout was created, and 40 µL of standards, or 1 µL of liver + 39µL of ddH2O was added, in duplicate, to each well. Bovine serum albumin was used as a protein standard. With a multichannel pipette, 200µL of Lowry Reagent (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, United States) was added to each well and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Folin & Ciocalteu Phenol Reagent 2.0N (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) was diluted 1 in 2 with ddH2O, and 20µL of the dilute mixture was added to each well and incubated for 30 minutes. Absorbance was measured at 750 nm using a spectrophotometer. Concentrations were interpolated in GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc., CA, United States) using bovine serum albumin standards to calibrate the readings. For immunoblotting, protein samples were diluted into a final concentration of 2µg/µl with LIPA buffer and SDS loading buffer, boiled at 100°C for 5 minutes, and cooled on ice. About 40µg of protein was loaded for each sample. Proteins were separated on 10% SDS-PAGE gels and transferred to the

nitrocellulose membrane. Membranes were blocked for 1 hour with 5% skim milk in Trisbuffered saline (TBS), then incubated with primary antibodies overnight in a cold room. The following day the membranes were washed 3 times for 5 minutes each and then incubated with 2.5% skim milk in TBS and appropriate secondary antibodies for 1 hour. Blots were developed using ECL (ThermoFisher Scientific) and imaged with a Bio-Rad ChemiDoc MP imaging system. A summary of antibodies used in the western blot is in Table 2–3.

Antibody	Source	Company/Catalog Number	Dilutio n	Incubation Condition
Anti-glucose-6 phosphatase α	Rabbit polyclonal	Santa Cruz	1:200	4°C,
(G6Pase- α)	antibody	#Sc-25840	1.200	overnight
Anti-phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK)	Rabbit polyclonal antibody	Cayman Chemical #10004943	1:200	4°C, overnight
Anti-glyceraldehyde 3-phospha dehydrogenase (GAPDH)	te Mouse Monoclonal IgG1	Invitrogen #MA5-15738	1:1000	4°C, overnight
Anti-Mouse IgG	Goat	Sigma-Aldrich #A4416	1:2000	RT 1 hour
Anti-Rabbit IgG	Goat	Sigma-Aldrich #A9169	1:4000	R.T, 1 Hour

Table 2—6 Antibodies and dilutions used in western blot

Abbreviation: R.T., room temperature.

# 2.3.3 Liver Histology

At the time of tissue collection, we observed some differences between mice's liver color as some were pink and others were yellowish-brown. Liver tissue prepared in paraffin blocks was cut into 5 µm sections and affixed onto glass slides. One slide for

each sample was stained using hematoxylin & eosin. 7 photo microscopic images with 20X magnification of each slide were taken using a Zeiss AxioCam HR microscope attached to a Canon Power Shot camera. Liver samples were used to measure macrovesicles area, microvesicles area, the total number of vesicles, microvesicular steatosis, and macrovesicular steatosis. Vesicle size greater than 15 $\mu$  was considered as macrovesicles, whereas vesicle size less than 15 $\mu$  was considered as microvesicles (97). ImageJ software "freehand selections" tool was used to measure fat droplets.

#### 2.3.4 Echo MRI

Echo-MRI Whole Body Composition Analyzer was used to measure the mouse body composition including fat tissue, lean tissue, free water, and total water.40 males and 20 females were used, and mice were placed in appropriate-diameter tubes to make the mice remain still, then put into the machine slot and scanned. Data for fat mass and lean mass were collected and presented as a percentage of body weight.

#### 2.4 Statistical analysis

Male and female mice were analyzed separately. Data were analyzed by GraphPad PRISM software for all experiments and expressed as the mean ± SEM. They were first checked for normal distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test and analyzed by one-way or two-way ANOVA (or equivalent nonparametric tests as appropriate). Posthoc tests were adjusted for multiple comparisons. A p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. The total decrement in blood glucose from baseline for ITT was measured using the Prism software and considered peaks that went below the baseline only, thus it was called "the area of the curve" (AOC). While for PTT, we measured the

total and incremental area under the curve (AUC, iAUC) by measuring the peaks above zero and above the baseline, respectively.

# **Chapter 3** : Results

# 3.1 Effect of Dairy Consumption on Metabolic Phenotype in Insulin Resistant Male Mice

# 3.1.1 Weight Changes and Caloric Intake

There was a significant effect of diet (P<0.0001), time (P<0.0001), subject (P<0.0001), and interaction of diet × time (P<0.0001) on body weight (Figure 3-1(A)). The body weight increased in the Yogurt group at the first week of feeding relative to LFD (P=0.0248). By the second week of dairy feeding, all the HFD groups were significantly higher in body weight than the LFD group until the end of the study. Body weight changes showed that all HFD groups gained similar amount of weight compared to LFD group (Figure 3-1(B)). Energy intake was normalized for body weight (kcal/kg of body weight) for each cage and expressed as the mean intake per mouse. There was no significant effect of diet on energy intake (Table 3—1).





Figure 3-1 Weekly body weight for male mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets(A). Body weight changes for male mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets(B). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test was performed. N per group=12 (three trials combined).

## 3.1.2 Fasting Blood Glucose and Insulin Concentrations:

Fasting blood glucose was obtained in mice following 4 hours of fasting prior to ITT and overnight fasting prior to PTT (Figure 3-2). There was a significant difference in blood glucose concentrations in the Milk group after 4 hours of fasting (P=0.001) and in all HFD groups after overnight fasting (P=0.005) compared to the LFD group. There was no significant difference in insulin concentrations between groups. A summary of the metabolic phenotype is presented in (Table 3—1). Due to insufficient samples, we could not calculate HOMA-IR to represent the degree of insulin resistance.



Figure 3-2 Blood glucose concentration after 4 hours of fasting (A) and overnight fasting (B) for mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. One-way ANOVA test was performed followed by Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. n per group=6.

	Diet group						
	Milk	Yogurt	Cheese	HFD	LFD	P-value	
Initial BW (g)	23.1±0.5 n=12	23.4±0.4 n=12	23.5±0.6 n=12	22.9±0.4 n=12	22.1±0.3 n=12	0.2212	
Final BW (g)	37.8±0.9* n=12	37.8±0.9* n=12	38.9±1.1* n=12	38.3±1* n=12	29.7±0.9 n=12	<0.0001	
BW changes (g)	14.7±0.7* n=12	14.4±0.9* n=12	15.4±1.1* n=12	15.3±0.7* n=12	7.6±1 n=12	0.0005	
FBG(mmol/L) overnight fast	7.7±0.5* n=6	8.0±0.5* n=6	8.2±0.5* n=6	8.3±0.6* n=6	5.7±0.4 n=6	0.005	
FBG(mmol/L) 4hrs fast	12.6±0.7* n=6	10.98±0.4 n=6	10.58±0.3 n=6	11.0±0.6 n=6	9.1±0.7 n=6	0.004	
Fasting Insulin (ng/ml)	2±0.4 n=3	1.1±0.3 n=4	2.9±1 n=3	0.8±0.3 n=4	1.4±0.1 n=2	0.7079	
Food intake Kcal/mouse/day	12.5± 1.4 n=12	12.9± 1.6 n=12	13.4± 1.1 n=12	12.7±0.4 n=12	10.8± 1.3 n=12	0.66	

Table 3—1 Metabolic Profile of Male Mice

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 compared with LFD by one-way Anova. Abbreviation: HFD: High fat diet, LFD: Low fat diet, BW:Body weight, FBG: Fasting blood glucose.

# 3.1.3 Insulin Tolerance Test (ITT)

The ITT represents the efficiency of whole-body insulin action. ITT was performed on half of the mice to determine the degree to which blood glucose concentrations fell following intraperitoneal insulin injection. (Figure 3-3(A)) compared the the effect of insulin bolus between HFD and LFD group. HFD group showed higher fasting blood glucose and impaired blood glucose disappearance while LFD group showed faster drop of blood glucose concentration indicating higher response to insulin injection. The diet effect was statistically significant (Time, P<0.0001, Diet, P=0.03, Time×Diet, P=0.02), however when we expressed the data as % of baseline, the differences between HFD and LFD group remain significant Figure 7(B), (Time<0.0001, Diet, P=0.052, Time×Diet=0.01), suggesting mice in HFD group successfully induced IR.



Figure 3-3 Effects of 7 weeks of diet feeding on ITT in HFD and LFD control group. The value of blood glucose is shown as absolute mean±SEM, n=6(A). P-value, Time<0.0001, Diet=0.03, and Time×Diet=0.02. \*= at 15 min P= 0.02. And as mean % of basal glucose±SEM, n=6 (B). P-value, Time<0.0001, Diet=0.052, and Time×Diet=0.01. \*\* P=0.002. Two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test was performed.

At 15 minutes of ITT, the milk, yogurt, and HFD group's blood glucose were higher than the LFD group with P= 0.04, 0.01, and 0.02, respectively. When data were expressed as % of baseline, the effect of exogenous insulin was similar between groups except for the HFD group, which was significantly different compared to LFD (P=0.002) Figure 3-3 (B). The effect of exogenous insulin in the milk group appeared to be prolonged until 90 minutes, whereas blood glucose concentrations began to rebound by 30-60 minutes for all other groups. When examining the AUC, we subtracted the baseline area and measured the negative peak only. Here, the milk group showed about 50% higher response (indicating greater insulin sensitivity) than other groups Figure 3–5.



Figure 3-4 Effects of 7 weeks of diet feeding on insulin tolerance in HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, and LFD groups. ITT was performed on mice following a 4-hours fast. The values of blood glucose are shown as absolute mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. (A) and as mean % of basal glucose  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. (B). Two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test was performed.



Figure 3-5. Graph showed the area of the curve AOC data for the ITT as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6, One-way ANOVA was used to evaluate statistical differences, but none were found (P=0.3). (AOC calculated based on data presented in (Figure 3-4 (A)).

# 3.1.4 Pyruvate Tolerance Test

Gluconeogenesis capacity is assessed by the pyruvate tolerance test (PTT) by monitoring glycemic excursions after administering a pyruvate bolus after overnight fasting. The differences between HFD and LFD groups were significant with P= 0.02 for Diet, 0.0002 for the time in absolute values. When we adjusted for the blood glucose baseline, only time was significant (P<0.0001) (Figure 3–6).

For the dairy group, the absolute value of blood glucose showed a significant effect of Time, P<0.0001, Diet, P=0.003, Time × Diet= 0.9, while when we express the data as % of the baseline only time was significantly different with P<0.0001 Figure 3-7. AUC was significantly higher in all HFD groups compared to the LFD group, with milk P=0.03, yogurt P=0.009, cheese P=0.007, and HFD P=0.01; however, this effect disappeared when we normalized the blood glucose concentration to the baseline P=0.8. This high response is mainly due to somewhat higher fasting glucose because when normalized to fasting glucose, differences after pyruvate administration were attenuated (Figure 3–8).



Figure 3-6 Effects of 7 weeks of diet feeding on pyruvate tolerance in HFD and LFD groups. PTT were performed on mice following an overnight fast. The blood glucose values are shown as absolute mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6 (A) and as mean % of basal glucose  $\pm$  SEM, n=6 (B). Using Tukey multiple comparison tests following one-way ANOVA, no significant differences were found.





Figure 3-7 Effects of 7 weeks of diet feeding on pyruvate tolerance in HFD and LFD groups. PTT was performed on mice following an overnight fast. The blood glucose values are shown as absolute mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6 (A), and as mean % of basal glucose  $\pm$  SEM, n=6 (B).



Figure 3-8 Graph (A)showed the total area under the curve data for the PTT as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. One-way ANOVA (P=0.004) followed by Tukey's test was used to evaluate statistical differences, while (B) represents Incremental changes in glucose (iAUC) (P=0.8).

# 3.1.5 Epididymal Fat Weight

There was a significant effect of diet on the epididymal fat weight relative to body weight. All HFD groups showed a higher percentage of epididymal fat weight compared to LFD with (p<0.0001) (Figure 3–9).



Figure 3-9 Epididymal fat weight as % of total body weight for mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test was performed. n per group HFD+Milk=11, HFD+Yogurt=10, HFD+Cheese=10, HFD=12, and LFD=8.

# 3.1.6 Body Composition

ECHO MRI was used to measure the whole-body fat, lean, and free water in the mice. Fat mass was significantly high among all HFD groups compared to LFD (P<0.0001), while the lean mass was significantly higher in the LFD group compared to all HFD groups (P<0.0001). No significant differences were found between HFD groups with or without dairy (Figure 3–10).



Figure 3-10 MRI-measured body composition for mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets. % fat mass (A) and % lean mass (B). Data are presented as mean ± SEM. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test was performed. n per group=8.

# 3.2 Effect of Dairy Consumption on Serum and Hepatic Lipid Phenotype in IR Mice

# 3.2.1 Liver Weight

Liver weight was presented as a percentage of total body weight. There was no

significant effect of diet on the liver weight (P=0.1) (Figure 3-11).



Figure 3-11 Liver weight as % of total body weight for mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. One-way ANOVA was performed.n per group HFD+Milk=11, HFD+Yogurt=12, HFD+Cheese=10, HFD=11, and LFD=8.

# 3.2.2 Serum TG and NEFA

Serum at the time of euthanasia was used (overnight fasting) to evaluate the concentration of TG. The yogurt group had the highest mean TG and was significantly higher than both Milk (P=0.0493) and LFD (P=0.0365). No other statistically significant differences were found in Figure 3–12. Serum NEFA analysis showed no significant differences between groups Figure 3–13.



Figure 3-12 Serum TG for mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test was performed. n per group HFD+Milk=11, HFD+Yogurt=12, HFD+Cheese=9, HFD=12, and LFD=9.



Figure 3-13 Serum NEFA for mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. One-way ANOVA was performed. n per group: HFD+Milk=11, HFD+Yogurt=12, HFD+Cheese=9, HFD=12, and LFD=9

### 3.2.3 Liver Triglyceride

There was a significant effect of Yogurt on liver TG content (P=0.0073) compared

to LFD. No other statistically significant differences were found in Figure 3–14.



Figure 3-14 Liver TG for mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test was performed. n per group HFD+Milk=6, HFD+Yogurt=6, HFD+Cheese=6, HFD=6, and LFD=6.

# 3.2.4 Alanine Aminotransferase (ALT)

Serum ALT was measured to rule out liver inflammation due to HFD consumption using serum collected at the time of euthanasia. No significant differences between groups were detected in Figure 3–15.



Figure 3-15 ALT activity for mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. One-way ANOVA was performed. n per group HFD+Milk=6, HFD+Yogurt=6, HFD+Cheese=6, HFD=6, and LFD=6.

# 3.2.5 Liver Histology

The total number of fat droplets was significantly higher in the Milk group compared with any group (Figure 3–16(A)). The size of fat droplets was smaller in the LFD, Milk, and Cheese groups than the HFD group with P=0.02, 0.01, and 0.02, respectively (Figure 3–16 (B)). Microsteatosis is assessed using the total number of microvesicles ( $\leq 15\mu$ m) (97), which was significantly higher in the Milk group compared to all other groups (Figure 3–16(C)). Conversely, the number of macrosteatotic vesicles (>15 µm) was not statistically different between groups (Figure 3–16(C)).

The steatosis area % is the percentage of macro or microvesicles relative to the total vesicle number. Microsteatosis % was significantly higher in the Milk group compared to the HFD group (P = 0.0379) (Figure 3–16 (F)), while macrosteatosis % was higher in the HFD group compared to the Milk group (P = 0.0385) (Figure 3–16 (F)).





Figure 3-16 Effect of diet on hepatic lipid accumulation. N = 6 per diet group. The total number of vesicles(A). The average size of vesicles (B), microsteatosis (C). Macrosteatosis (D). Microvesicle area %(E). Macrovesicle area% (F). One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test was performed.



Figure 3-17 Effect of diet on hepatic lipid accumulation. N=30 (N = 6 Per diet group). Mouse liver samples were stained with hematoxylin & eosin. Photo microscopic images of liver tissue using 20X objective lens.

#### 3.2.6 Immunoblotting

The abundance of rate-limiting enzymes of hepatic gluconeogenesis was evaluated. A significant effect was detected in the Milk group compared to the LFD group for PEPCK abundance (P = 0.0318) (Figure 3–18 (A)), while G6Pase was not different between groups (Figure 3–18 (B)).



M, milk. Y, yogurt. Ch, cheese. HFD, high-fat diet. LFD, low-fat diet

Figure 3-18 Effects of Dairy diets on relative protein abundance of (A) PEPCK (n=6) and (B) G6Pase (n=6). PEPCK and G6Pase values were normalized to GAPDH. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey, a multiple comparison test, was performed. There was a significant effect of Milk on PEPCK protein abundance (P=0.03) compared with LFD. No differences were observed for G6Pase abundance.

# Chapter 4 : Effect of Dairy Consumption on Metabolic Phenotype in Female Mice

We used 40 female mice in the first and second trials in order to compare sex differences in the effect of dairy foods on insulin resistance. Body weight was significantly increased among HFD and dairy groups compared to the LFD group, with a significant effect of both time (P<0.0001) and diet (P<0.0001) (Figure 4—1). The change in body weight was greatest in the milk group, consistent with having the highest epididymal fat weight, and a trend to highest total body fat (Table 4—1).

Data for the ITT (Figure 4—2) were not complete because most of the mice could not finish the test due to hypoglycemia, even those in the HFD group and even after the insulin dose was reduced by half in trial 2. Blood glucose dropped to <3mmol/L, necessitating the administration of glucose solution to 10 out of 20 mice. This effect indicates that all the mice were highly insulin sensitive.

PTT showed a significant effect of diet (P=0.0084), time (P=<0.0001), and subject (P<0.0001). The Yogurt group showed increased glucose concentration only at 20 minutes (P=0.01) compared to the LFD group. The Cheese group showed increased glucose level at 20 min (P=0.006), at 40 minutes (P=0.04), at 60 min (P=0.05), and at 90 minutes (P=0.01) compared to LFD. In contrast, the Milk group showed increased glucose concentration at 20 min (P=0.002), at 60 min (P=0.04), and at 90 min (P=0.02) compared to the LFD group (Figure 4–3). The majority of these differences were likely dependent on slightly elevated fasting blood glucose in the Milk and Yogurt groups. Metabolic data are summarized in Table 4–1.



Figure 4-1 Weekly Body weight for female mice fed HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, or LFD diets. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. One-way ANOVA was performed. N per group=8.



Figure 4—2 Figure 3-4 Effects of 7 weeks of diet feeding on insulin tolerance in HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, and LFD groups. ITT was performed on mice following a 4-hours fast. The values of blood glucose are shown as absolute mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. (A) and as mean % of basal glucose  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. (B). Two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test was performed



Figure 4—3 Effects of 7 weeks of diet feeding on pyruvate tolerance in HFD+Milk, HFD+Yogurt, HFD+Cheese, HFD, and LFD female mice. PTT was performed on mice following an overnight fast. The values of blood glucose are shown as absolute mean ± SEM, n=4. Tukey, multiple comparison tests following one-way ANOVA, was used.

Diet group	Milk	Yogurt	Cheese	HFD	LFD	P-value
BW change(g)	7.1±0.7 *	6.0±1.0	6.7±1.0	5.3±0.6	3.5±0.6	0.02
0 (0)	N=8	N=8	N=8	N=8	N=8	
FBG (mmol/L) 4Hrs	9.3±0.4	8.3±0.4	8.4±0.5	7.9±0.5	7.6±0.4	0.2
fast						
	N=3	N=3	N=2	N=2	N=1	
FBG (mmol/L)	7.6±0.3::	7.1±0.5	5.7±0.5	5.1±0.6	5.4±0.7	0.02
overnight fast						
	N=4	N=4	N=4	N=4	N=4	
Epi fat (% BW)	4.8±0.3*	3.3±0.3	3.5±0.3	3±0.3	3.0±0.4	0.004
	N=8	N=8	N=8	N=8	N=8	
Liver WT (% BW)	3.2±0.2	3.3±0.2	3.2±0.2 *	3.6±0.1	3.9±0.1	0.03
	N=8	N=8	N=8	N=8	N=8	
Fat mass (% BW)	31.0±2.6	26.2±5.3	26.6±3.3	21.3±3.0	16.8±1.8	0.08
	N=4	N=4	N=4	N=4	N=4	
Lean mass (% BW)	63.0±1.2	64.0±4.4	63.5±3.0	68.6±2.8	72.4±1.8	0.012
	N=4	N=4	N=4	N=4	N=4	
Food intake	13.9±0.4	14.51±0.3	14.45±0.1	13.17±0.1	11.99±1.0	0.07
(Kcal/day)	N=8	N=8	N=8	N=8	N=8	

 Table 4—1 Metabolic profile of female mice

\* p<0.05 compared with LFD. # P< 0.05 compared to HFD. BW: body weight, FBG: fasting blood glucose, Epi fat: epididymal fat, WT: weight.

A literature review reported that female mice are less susceptible to diet induced obesity and its complications (98). Female mice are protected against metabolic changes and insulin resistance when fed high fat diet (99,100); in particular, female C57BL/6 mice are known to respond differently to HFD feeding due to the protective effect of estrogen (99). Female mice fed HFD develop mild IR and hyperinsulinemia (101) and hypercholesteremia (99) compared to male mice. Female mice take longer time to gain weight in response to HFD feeding with 129 days in female compared to 46 days in male (101). Female mice also show constant blood glucose level up to 14 weeks of HFD feeding while male mice showed significant hyperglycemia (99). These data are consistent with our findings that, although female mice fed HFD gained weight, it was about half that of male mice (7 g vs 15 g). The female mice fed HFD also had similar insulin sensitivity compared with the LFD controls based on the need to stabilize blood glucose with exogenous glucose in all groups. Therefore, it was not possible to investigate whether dairy interventions improved insulin sensitivity.

Human epidemiological data have also shown sex variations in obesity, cardiometabolic risk factors, response to treatments, and diabetes complication development (102). There is no doubt that investigations aimed to prevent or reverse obesity and treat its complication like in our project should taking sex differences in account with the intention of enhance their translational value to human as sex affect the metabolic parameters and its applicability to humans. To overcome the insulin sensitivity in female mice and increase their ability to induce IR in response to HFD feeding we could increase the duration of trial in the future studies.

# **Chapter 5** : Discussion and Conclusion

#### 5.1 Summary of Hypotheses and Main Findings

The purpose of the current research was to evaluate and compare the effect of Milk, Yogurt, and Cheese consumption on glucose homeostasis in HFD induced prediabetic mice and explore the possible mechanisms contributing to differences in insulin sensitivity and liver lipid metabolism. Previous work by our group showed a beneficial effect of low fat and high fat (LF/HF) cheese on insulin sensitivity in prediabetic rat models. In vivo experiments demonstrated increased hepatic insulin sensitivity during the insulin tolerance test for HF and LF cheese among prediabetic groups without affecting body weight. The study suggested that cheese consumption (LF/HF) may improve glucose homeostasis in the prediabetes model (76). In the current research, we hypothesized that regular fat milk and yogurt would have a similar effect to regular fat cheese in prediabetic mice by improving insulin sensitivity. Overall, the data do not support the hypothesis and are not similar to our previous lab work using Cheese. This is probably because of the very low dairy dose used in this research, which was underestimated due to an error in the calculated value. Nevertheless, the results did show beneficial effects of a low amount of milk on liver morphology related to lipid storage. The data indicate that the food matrix or nutritional changes that occur during processing affect the ability of individual dairy products to alter metabolism.

#### 5.2 HFD as a Model for Prediabetes and Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

Generally, a research animal model must ideally yield repeatable, reliable results, be commercially available, and be inexpensive for development (103). Rodents such as rats and mice are the most used species for experimental studies of glucose homeostasis (104). Compared with mice, rats have a big body, making it easy for catheterization and surgical procedures and larger blood volume that allows for multiple samples. The small body of the mouse limits the number of blood samples and makes the surgical procedures more challenging to perform. However, mouse models well established as a genetically modified, have genes removed (knocked out), and be transgenic to evaluate specific genes and pathways than rats (104).

Our model is C57BL/6J on HFD to induce IR, as our primary hypothesis was to assess the effect of dairy on insulin sensitivity. Many studies have shown that male C57BL/6J mice develop obesity, IR, diabetes, and hypertension when fed HFD, mimicking the human metabolic syndrome (105). The high-fat diet C57BL/6J mouse model was shown to be accompanied by IR, as determined by glucose tolerance tests, and insufficient insulin secretion compensation by the insulin-resistant islets. Therefore, the model is often used to study the pathophysiology of impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) and type 2 diabetes (106). However, there are some limitations for using this model such as the remarkable variation in the degree of IR between female and male mice, despite weight gain, due to the effect of estrogen (99). Furthermore, male mice develope significant hyperglycemia and develop obesity sooner and more severely than female mice in response to HFD feeding (98). Many researchers use male mice and ignore the sex differences, therefore, affecting the translational value of the research outcome as obesity and IR are common in female humans (98). These sex-dependent data are consistent with our findings that, precluded us determining whether dairy interventions improved insulin sensitivity in female mice.

Another limitation of rodents as an experimental model is the heterogeneity in response to HFD with only 60% developing obesity (98). There are other physiological differences, such as the primary site for glucose disposal in human being skeletal muscle, whereas liver is the primary site in mice (98). Thus, hepatic adaptations to dairy in humans might not be as pronounced as those observed in mice.

C57BL/6J mice fed HFD may also be a suitable model for NAFLD. As we developed our secondary hypothesis that the low dose of dairy could have a beneficial effect on hepatic lipid accumulation, our animal model was still useful for assessing NAFLD. Mice fed a 60% HFD exhibit strong steatosis, hyperlipidemia, and hyperinsulinemia after 10-12 weeks, while rats on a similar diet needed only 7 weeks to develop the same features (103). The literature shows that mice fed HFD for 50 weeks developed metabolic syndrome and steatohepatitis with mild fibrosis (107). C57BL/6 mice fed a diet of fast food that included high cholesterol, high saturated fatty acid, and high fructose for 6 months, had the features of metabolic syndrome, NAFLD, and NASH with progressive fibrosis (107). Another study suggested that a high fat/calorie diet with high fructose/glucose in drinking water is ideal for developing significant steatosis, necroptosis, inflammatory reaction, IR, and fibrotic progression. Therefore, it represents a great model for treatment intervention or pathophysiologic study of NAFLD and NASH (108). The methionine- and choline-deficient (MCD) diet caused fatty liver in the mice; however, the mechanism by which this occurs is pathologically different from human NAFLD, which is one of the most important criticisms of this dietary model (103). In the current research, our model showed increased body weight in response to 8 weeks feeding of 45% HFD compared to the LFD group. The body fat composition was significantly higher in the HFD

group as well as the epidydimal fat weight. Histology of the liver showed increased accumulation of fat droplets in the HFD groups compared to the LFD group even after a relatively short period of HFD feeding. Thus, the HFD-fed C57BL/6J mouse may be considered a model of the early progression of NAFLD.

#### 5.3 Effects of Dairy and Its Components on Hepatic Lipid Storage

Improvement of hepatic lipid storage in the Milk group was the most significant finding in this research. Milk consumption had a positive effect on the development of liver steatosis, which is supported by reduced macrovesicles area and increased microvesicle area compared to the HFD group. Liver steatosis is the accumulation of lipid in hepatocytes and is the mild form of NAFLD, the most common chronic liver disease in Western countries (109). There are two forms of hepatic steatosis depending on the size of the lipid droplet: macro-vesicular, a single giant lipid droplet defined in the hepatocyte with nucleus displacement, and micro-vesicular steatosis, where the hepatocytes are packed with small lipid droplets without nucleus displacement (109). Microsteatosis is suggested to be the primary form of hepatic steatosis. The small lipid droplets may merge to form large droplets with the progression of the disease (110). Our data, particularly for Milk, is consistent with other research findings, suggesting that microsteatosis is a transitional condition between non-steatotosis and macrosteatosis (110). Milk may have slowed or prevented that progression. Furthermore, published studies have shown that microsteatosis was found to be associated with less sign of fibrosis, lobular inflammation, IR, and hepatic damage than macrosteatosis (111,112).

Our findings raise the question as to what attribute of milk, as compared with cheese or yogurt, is responsible for the reduction in hepatic lipid. Several components of dairy are proposed to exhibit bioactivity that could contribute, including certain fatty acids, the milk fat globule membrane, which has many components including phospholipids and choline, calcium and vitamin D, and dairy protein. The effect of dairy fat on health has often been debated in the literature because of the potentially harmful outcomes caused by saturated fatty acid (SFA) on metabolic health (55). Metabolic dysfunction including IR, glucose intolerance, dyslipidemia, hypertension, and central obesity, contribute to cardiometabolic disease, which is one of the global leading causes of mortality and morbidity (55). Excessive energy consumption can be a factor leading to obesity and IR (113). Saturated fat mainly refers to the dietary long-chain fatty acids, which are linked to the risk of cardiovascular disease. At the same time, dairy products contain some medium and short-chain saturated fatty acids, which have beneficial effects on health (113). However, dairy fatty acids such as trans-16:1n-7, phytanic acid, C:15, and C:17 were also proposed as an active component to stimulate hepatic beta-oxidation and/or inhibit de novo lipogenesis (52,114,115). In our project, it is unlikely that dairy fat had an effect because the amount of fat contributed by cheese and milk to overall diet of mice was equal but we did not see similar improvement in the hepatic lipid accumulation. Figure 5-1 provides a summary of proposed mechanisms that demonstrates the beneficial effect of dairy fat on liver fat, which could improve insulin sensitivity and reduce FBG (113).



Figure 5-1 Proposed mechanism through which higher intakes of dairy fat in general, or transpalmitoleic acid in particular, may affect fasting glucose concentrations and glucose tolerance include a reduced liver fat content leading to improved hepatic and systemic insulin sensitivity. Adapted from Mario et al.2021 (113).

Choline is one of the nutrients increased by milk that may contribute to improved hepatic lipid storage. Milk has approximately 50% and 100% higher choline than yogurt and cheese, respectively (Table 2—4), and is involved in many physiological functions. The choline metabolite PC represents 40-50% of cell membranes and 70-95% of phospholipids in lipoproteins and bile (116). Low choline intake is reported to be associated with NAFLD. This may be because choline is required for the synthesis of very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), which is responsible for TG transport from the liver. And any defect in VLDL production will cause TG accumulation in the liver (116). A study has shown that 3 weeks supplementation with a choline-rich diet for postmenopausal women resolved NAFLD (117).

Polar lipids (PL), one of the MFGM components along with protein and cholesterol, account for 1% of total milk lipid and certain sub-classes (sphingolipids) may play an important role in reducing hepatic lipid accumulation (118). PL includes glycerophospholipids, such as PC, and sphingolipids, such as SM. Both are responsible for emulsifying TG in the aqueous phase of milk. Many studies have investigated the
effect of the consumption of extract of PL on lipid metabolism. The results show that PLrich dairy milk extract (PLRDME) significantly reduces liver weight, total cholesterol, TG, and serum lipid in mice fed HFD (79). The same study showed that PLRDME decreases expression of enzymes involved in fatty acid synthesis and inhibits 7 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase mRNA expression (the rate-limiting enzyme in bile acid synthesis), (79) consistent with the finding that milk SM inhibits intestinal lipid absorption and increases TG/cholesterol excretion with feces in obese/diabetic mice (119). SM is relatively resistant to solubilization in bile salt micelles, leading to uncomplete hydrolysis in the upper intestinal part where the most lipid hydrolysis occurs. SM might interact with other lipids and reduce their rate of hydrolysis, solubilization, and transfer to enterocytes (119). Overall, sphingolipids might therefore decrease liver lipid both directly and indirectly by its effects on gut lipid metabolism.

Phospholipid is the most important compound in the cell membrane and plays a crucial role in gastrointestinal barrier integrity and improving systemic inflammation and lipid metabolism (120). HFD consumption results in intestinal barrier dysfunction, triggering metabolic endotoxemia and causing metabolic disorders (120,121), which play in important role in immune response involved in the development of systemic inflammation, IR, obesity, and NAFLD (122,123). PC supplementation reduces oxidative stress and improves gut barrier function by improving the expression of tight junction (TJ) protein (124). The same study showed that PC supplementation substantially inhibited the intestinal mucosal damage caused by LPS by improving villi length (124). In our research we could hypothesize that milk PC and SM contributed to improve hepatic steatosis by improving the intestinal permeability and repairing the damage caused by

LPS due to HFD consumption. To test this hypothesis, we could confirm the amount of MFGM in our dairy products and assess gut permeability.

Another possibility is milk fat globule-epidermal growth factor 8 (MFGE8). This protein is a membrane-associated glycoprotein found in milk and mammary epithelial cells and is known to play a role in the physiological and pathophysiological processes of immune and inflammatory response and liver homeostasis (125). MFGE8 originated from milk fat globules, and its structure is similar to the epithelial growth factor. During inflammation, its expression increases in the mammary gland during lactation and decreases in the liver, spleen, lung, kidney, and intestine. The most commonly known function for MFGE8 is to promote the clearance of apoptotic cells and maintain cellular homeostasis (126). Whey protein is known to include MFGE8. Calcium and Vit K, which are also present in milk, serve as cofactors of MFGE8 (126). In NAFLD, a study has shown that MFGE8 is reduced in hepatocytes, and its deletion leads to increased hepatic lipid accumulation and inflammatory response under metabolic challenges (125). Many studies suggested that maintaining the level of MFGE8 in the liver could be used to treat NAFLD (125,127).

Another component of milk that might be relevant to improved hepatic lipid storage is calcium. Dairy calcium was suggested to prevent weight and fat regain (128). Also, calcium might suppress hepatic and adipose lipogenesis by improving leptin and GLP-1 signaling, decreasing calcitriol levels, and changing gut microbiota composition (58). An additional proposed hypothesis for calcium-related weight reduction is binding fat to calcium, leading to excretion of the fat as calcium salt with feces (60). However, other

studies investigated the effect of a high calcium diet compared to dairy calcium. These studies concluded that a high calcium diet increased weight gain and hyperphagia compared to dairy calcium intake, which showed a preventive effect, suggesting that it is not the calcium responsible for these effects, but other components of the dairy might be related which support the idea of the whole dairy matrix instead of single components (59,129). Increasing dietary Ca<sup>2+</sup> was proposed as a mechanism by which dairy might be responsible for weight loss by regulation of the circulating calcitriol (1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D) (1,25(OH)2 D) levels (130). High calcium diets may suppress calcitriol activity, therefore reducing adipocyte's number due to inhibition of the fatty acid synthesis and activation of lipolysis. The same study concluded that increasing the amount of dairy intake did not enhance weight loss compared to caloric restriction (130). According to our results, the dairy calcium is unlikely to play a role in the improvement of hepatic steatosis as cheese has more calcium than milk (Table 2—4).

According to Canadian guidelines for dairy intake, one serving of milk has the highest amount of vitamin D compared to one serving of yogurt while cheese does not have vitamin D. However, the yogurt we used was fortified with vit D and according to the dairy product's label, 100 g of yogurt has 15% of daily required of vit D while 250 ml of milk has 13%. My result favors milk over cheese for the improvement of hepatic steatosis, which is consistent with relative vitamin D content but does not explain the lack of effect of yogurt. Vitamin D influences calcium homeostasis in addition to its role in modulating the inflammatory response (123). Many human studies suggested that vitamin D intake is inversely associated with obesity and NAFLD (123,131,132). Interestingly, a study showed that glycemic control was worse in the winter season when the vitamin D

deficiency is higher (123). The study highlighted the effect of vitamin D on the NAFLD pathophysiology mechanism, for instance, vitamin D suppresses the activity of adipocyte renin-angiotensin system (RAS), thus increasing adiponectin secretion (123). Therefore, deficiency of vitamin D leads to decreased adiponectin secretion, which is linked to IR and NAFLD (123). Vitamin D deficiency negatively impacts gut innate immunity by causing gut dysbiosis and low-grade systemic inflammation, which is a major driving factor behind insulin resistance and metabolic dysfunction (131). Another study suggested that vitamin D supplementation might improve NAFLD by inflammation reduction, however the precise mechanism of action remained unclear (132). In our project, its unlikely that vitamin D played a role in the improvement of hepatic lipid steatosis since yogurt has about the same vitamin D as milk.

Dairy protein, including whey and casein, comprising 2.8% and 0.7% of total weight of milk respectively, was the focus of many studies due to its beneficial effect in metabolic syndrome and diabetes (133). Whey and casein contain a relatively high concentration of branched amino acids (BCAAs). Whey protein is rich in the BCAA leucine, which activates protein synthesis and stimulates insulin and GIP secretion and expression (133,134). Also, whey protein intake causes significant inhibition of DPP-4 activity, which was found to be increased in NAFLD patients, leading to slower degradation of incretin hormones (135). High activity of DPP-4 limits the activity of GLP-1, which may contribute to steatosis (135). Another study suggested that whey protein supplementation may improves hepatic steatosis and reduces oxidative stress (136). Casein increases the intestinal transit time and increases the feeling of fullness, while whey protein increases satiety signals and diminishes food intake (137). Compared to whey or casein alone, total dairy protein consumption can protect against increased adiposity in rats fed HFD (60). Dairy protein has an antioxidant activity, which might be beneficial because increased oxidative stress is associated with most diet-related chronic diseases (138). Casein has the most antioxidant activity; therefore, cheese has the highest amount of antioxidants as cheese has more protein due to the fermentation process (138). Conversely, milk has more whey protein than cheese and yogurt because during processing, whey is the liquid left over after the caseins in milk have been coagulated and filtered off (139). Figure 5–2 summarizes the potential effects of whey protein. In our model, there does not seem to be a role of dairy protein in improving the liver steatosis because we did not see any effect of milk intake on body weight, food intake or insulin secretion, which would be expected by increasing whey intake.





According to the discussion above, we can summarize the possible mechanism of action by which milk improved the hepatic steatosis. The role of fatty acids, calcium, vitamin D, and protein are excluded based on the reasons mentioned in the discussion and thus the focus in the discussion of future research will be on the role of phospholipids, choline, and MFGE8 (section 5.8).

Changes in fat metabolism seemed relatively specific to liver because we observed a significant increase in epididymal fat mass as well as total body fat among all HFD groups compared with the LFD. Unexpectedly in our experiment, the Yogurt group showed a higher concentration of serum and liver TG compared to LFD. The beneficial effect of yogurt intake on circulating lipids accumulation was suggested in many studies. Rosquist et al. concluded that consumption of yogurt enhanced with Lactobacillus acidophilus La5 and Bifidobacterium lactis Bb12 caused improvement in total cholesterol compared with conventional yogurt. At the same time, conventional yogurt reduced the total and LDL cholesterol but did not alter HDL cholesterol or TG (140). In 2010 a study concluded that both probiotic and conventional Yogurt positively affected the subjects' lipid profile, suggesting that consumption of fermented dairy can improve lipid profile independent of its probiotic content (141). We used a sweetened yogurt, which might explain our result for high TG. Intake of sugar-sweetened beverages causes dyslipidemia through ectopic fat accumulation, de novo lipogenesis, visceral adiposity, and hypertriglyceridemia (142). A recent review on dairy fat effects on human health has shown benefits of cheese consumption on hepatic lipid content; moreover, longer ripening duration of the cheese affects the cheese matrix and improves the health response (55). We contacted the Armstrong company regarding our Cheese ripening duration, but we did not get a firm answer.

IR and obesity are the hallmarks of NAFLD (143) Hepatic IR is thought to be involved in the etiology of NAFLD as a result of inflammation and deposition of lipid metabolites such as ceramide and diacylglycerol in the liver. Insulin stimulates de novo lipogenesis and inhibits hepatic gluconeogenesis; however, hepatic IR is associated with inability of insulin to suppress the gluconeogenesis, but the de novo lipogenesis is maintained. Reductions in ß-oxidation occur in association with increases in hepatic de novo lipogenesis. Insulin induces lipogenesis, increases the malonyl-CoA synthesis, which inhibits carnitine palmitoyl transferase-1 and lowers fatty acid oxidation. As a result, this abnormal lipid handling prompts the advancement of liver damage and NAFLD.

Hepatic IR is associated with increased VLDL-triglyceride production and impairment in LDL clearance from circulation, which contributes to dyslipidemia (55). Our results did not show any significant changes in the insulin sensitivity among dairy groups compared to the HFD group with ITT. Previous work showed improvement in the insulin sensitivity demonstrated by ITT and reduce G6Pase abundance after 8 weeks of high and low-fat cheese intake, However the liver histology of the prediabetic rats did not show any improvement in hepatic lipid accumulation (76). Interestingly, we observed improvement in the hepatic lipid storage in the Milk group independent of any effect on insulin sensitivity. The small dose of dairy might negate any effect of dairy on insulin sensitivity, and also, the duration of treatment might be too short.

#### 5.4 Effect of Dairy on Markers of Liver Damage

Liver enzymes such as ALT, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), and gammaglutamyl transferase (GGT), have been recognized as markers of liver damage and

identified as markers of NAFLD (144). ALT is an enzyme that catalyzes the transfer of the amino group from alanine to 2-oxoglutarate. High serum activity indicates liver cellular destruction (145) Many studies have shown that serum ALT levels significantly increased in patients with hepatic steatosis. In contrast, serum AST levels were associated with NAFLD patients, but serum GGT levels were correlated with the level of liver TG and used as a biomarker for NAFLD. However, serum ALT level is more specific as a marker of liver inflammation as ALT activity is positively correlated with intrahepatic triglyceride (146) therefore, the elevation of ALT is associated with IR and hepatic steatosis. A study showed that whey protein improved the bodyweight of rats and reduced hepatic TG, serum glucose, and liver enzymes (136). In contrast, another study observed that consuming three servings of low-fat dairy improved liver function and reduced systemic inflammation among subjects with MetS (147). However, in our experiment, ALT wasn't increased in HFD groups compared with the LFD group. Even though HFD did cause fatty liver, it wasn't severe enough to induce liver damage.

### 5.5 Effect of Dairy Intake on In Vivo and Hepatic Glucose Metabolism

Although we did not observe any effect of a low dose of dairy foods on insulin sensitivity, we were interested in whether gluconeogenic enzymes were altered in abundance in line with previous studies (76). Fasting causes a drop in blood glucose due to a lack of meal intake and, as a result, there is a decrease in glucose absorbed from the intestines (148). Therefore, hepatic gluconeogenesis maintains the systemic blood glucose by compensating for food supply interruptions (149). As the animal transitions between fed and fasted phases, the liver is the primary tissue that maintains metabolic balance. Fasting increases hepatic glucose and ketone body production, triacylglycerol

buildup, and glycogen depletion (150). Insulin normally suppresses PEPCK gene transcription and gluconeogenesis in the liver. However, in many animal species, obesity, and type 2 diabetes models, gluconeogenesis and PEPCK mRNA levels are 2-3 times higher in diabetic than in non-diabetic animals. These findings indicate that hyperglycemia in these animal models may result from insulin signaling problems, leading to PEPCK gene transcription not being suppressed (151). Previous work in IR rats suggested that cheese might modulate rate-limiting enzymes of gluconeogenesis (76). We assessed the impact of dairy consumption on the rate-limiting enzyme for gluconeogenesis (PEPCK and G6Pase) and found suppression of PEPCK abundance by Milk compared with LFD; however, the G6Pase was similar among groups. PEPCK catalyzes the conversion of oxaloacetate (OAA) to phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) as the first step to produce glucose (149). In the previous cheese study, there was an effect of high and low-fat cheese only on G6Pase compared to the control group (76). The same study suggested that reduced G6Pase and PEPCK in the liver contributed to reduced gluconeogenesis in the second phase of the insulin tolerance test. In our research, it is likely that the dose of dairy was too low to test this hypothesis, therefore we would either increase the amount of dairy or extend the duration of the intervention since it might take longer to see an effect at the low dose.

We observed a significant increase in body weight among HFD groups compared to LFD as expected. Our lab's previous work showed a significant weight gain in prediabetic rats after HF/LF cheese feeding (76). Weight gain in response to dairy intake was consistent with a meta-analysis including 29 RCTs and 2101 participants to evaluate the effect of dairy intake on body weight. No evidence found from their collected data

supports the beneficial effect of dairy intake on body weight in long-term studies without calorie restriction (152).

To evaluate the effect of milk, yogurt, and cheese on insulin sensitivity, we performed ITT to measure the response of prediabetic mice to an exogenous insulin bolus. Ideally, in ITT, the plasma glucose concentration drops due to the inhibitory effect of insulin on endogenous glucose production and stimulatory effect on glucose uptake by muscle, whereby a faster drop indicates insulin sensitivity. The effect of exogenous insulin lasts for 3-15 minutes only due to counterregulatory hormones (153). In our experiment, we did not observe any significant changes between groups. To assess the impact of dairy consumption on hepatic gluconeogenesis animals were fasted overnight to deplete the glycogen storage and ensure that glucose production comes from available precursors to compensate for the high glucose disposal (pyruvate) instead of glycogen breakdown (154). Herein, the result indicates a significant difference in the basal blood glucose concentration between groups, which affects PTT outcome. These differences disappeared when we normalized the blood glucose to the baseline, suggesting that the diet did not affect the PTT. A study showed that insulin sensitivity is related to decreased body weight due to the beneficial effect of dairy protein (60), but in our model, we did not observe improvement in the body weight of the mice, which might explain why we did not see any effect on insulin sensitivity as an effect of dairy intake.

The method we used to convert the amount of dairy from a human serving to an equivalent amount for mice is based on the caloric intake. A limitation of this approach is that it did not fully consider the biochemical and functional system differences between

mice and humans which in turn affect pharmacokinetics of drugs (155). Allometric scaling (body surface area (BSA) normalization) is the method used to convert drug doses from animal to human (and vice versa), and it is widely used in the pharmacology field (156). BSA is based on oxygen utilization, caloric expenditure, basal metabolism, blood volume, and circulating plasma protein (156). Allometric scaling is used to calculate the safe initial dose for the animal to test a new drug effect. Because mice have a higher surface:volume ratio and higher metabolic rate than human, this results in a higher dose per body weight in mice than humans. By basing our calculated dose on caloric intake we did take into account the higher metabolic rate of the mice; moreover, by basing the dose on the recommended intake of dairy for humans, it means that it is achievable by humans without displacing too many calories and nutrients from other foods. Human studies showed that a relatively small amount of dairy have a benefit (34,36,38). Therefore, the smaller dose may be sufficient at least for some effects.

## 5.6 Conclusions

Our research aimed to evaluate the effect of dairy foods differing in their matrix as well as a nutrient profile on glucose homeostasis. Our intention was to provide dairy in an amount equivalent to the recommended dose for adult humans (2-3 servings/day); however, we ended up using less than one serving a day of dairy. Consumption of milk, yogurt, and cheese had no effect on insulin sensitivity, glucose homeostasis, and body weight with a half serving a day. That is likely due to the low dose or possibly insufficient duration of treatment. On the other hand, the Milk group showed reduced hepatic lipid accumulation in IR mice compared to the HFD group, suggesting a beneficial effect of regular milk intake even with a half serving a day.

However, these beneficial effects of milk are independent of body weight and insulin sensitivity. This study contributes to understanding dairy consumption's effect as a healthy choice to improve human health, particularly IR and NAFLD. Considerably more work will need to be done to confirm the result before applying it in real life.

### 5.7 Limitations

The first limitation of the current study is that the actual dairy dose used in this research was relatively small compared to that used in our previous work (76), and upon which we developed our current hypothesis. The dairy dose used in this study was only 0.5 serving instead of 2 servings. This happened due to an error that occurred in the calculation of the required dairy dose for this research. Unfortunately, we realized this error after we had completed the whole trial. Therefore, the results and the research outcomes have been negatively influenced by such error. As a result, the focus of the research shifted to discuss the impact of a small dairy dose on hepatic lipid instead of the effect of dairy on insulin sensitivity. Another limitation is that female mice failed to induce IR, as noted by others (99), so we could not examine any sex-related differences regarding the impact of dairy.

The epidemic of COVID-19 and related interruptions had a significant influence on this project's progress. During the Covid restriction period, there were multiple closures for the lab and no guarantee that it would not be shut off again, which affected the trial's duration. We were obliged to end the trial early. And restrictions have limited our ability to perform some planned tests (for example, metabolomics analysis) and access to some equipment. Furthermore, the re-entry plan for the lab has affected our work as social

distancing rules made shadowing for learning more difficult. The idea that learning from others in the lab by observing a procedure that appears wrong, discussing some data, and detecting a problem with lab members has been drastically decreased due to the covid situation. This is a challenge, especially for those unfamiliar with the lab equipment and need to be taught how to use them and perform an experiment with a distant mentor. Personal factors such as requirements for children to stay home from school also had a negative impact. Nevertheless, most of the original objectives of the research were met.

### 5.8 Future Recommendations

The work presented in this thesis demonstrates that half a serving of milk primarily affects hepatic lipid accumulation, leading to improved liver steatosis. However, the mechanism by which milk consumption led to this improvement is unclear and requires further investigation. Considering the possible pathways leading to hepatic lipid accumulation, it would be worth investigating the impact of milk intake on both fatty acid synthesis (de novo lipogenesis) and fatty acid oxidation by measuring the abundance and activity of key rate-limiting enzymes in each pathway. Furthermore, the effect of milk consumption on VLDL concentration could be studied as high choline concentration in milk may increase VLDL synthesis.

Considering the recommended dairy amount and given the beneficial effect of dairy in this study with a lower dosage, conducting a dose-response study with a higher amount of dairy might allow us to investigate further a possible positive effect of dairy on insulin sensitivity and hepatic lipid accumulation. In addition, an interesting point is to increase the feeding period to evaluate if the beneficial effects of dairy are transient or sustained over time.

An intriguing area of research is comparing whole food matrix intake to individual food components such as bioactive peptides, fatty acids, and probiotics. In this study, we used whole milk, but several individual components from milk such as Ca<sup>+2</sup>, protein, phospholipid, choline, and other milk nutrient components have been shown to promote beneficial effects on body weight and insulin sensitivity. Therefore, it would be interesting to compare the effect of whole milk ingestion with MFGE8 on insulin sensitivity and hepatic steatosis to identify the role the food matrix plays in the observed effect.

Moreover, in our work, we hypothesized that milk PC and SM improved hepatic steatosis by improving the intestinal permeability and repairing the damage caused by LPS due to HFD consumption; however, we did not investigate changes in the intestine in future work. It would be interesting to assess gut permeability, for instance, by conducting a lactulose/mannitol (Lac/Man) test (157) to assess the status of epithelial barrier integrity after milk consumption.

# References

- 1. Shaw J, Sicree R, Zimmet P. Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice. 2010;87(1):4-14.
- 2. Guo J, Givens D, Astrup A, Bakker S, Goossens G, Kratz M et al. The Impact of Dairy Products in the Development of Type 2 Diabetes: Where Does the Evidence Stand in 2019?. Advances in Nutrition. 2019;10(6):1066-1075.
- 3. Scheen A. PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF TYPE 2 DIABETES. Acta Clinica Belgica. 2003;58(6):335-341.
- 4. Zaccardi F, Webb D, Yates T, Davies M. Pathophysiology of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a 90-year perspective. Postgraduate Medical Journal. 2015;92(1084):63-69.
- 5. Research E, Atlas I. IDF Diabetes Atlas [Internet]. Idf.org. 2022 [cited 8 July 2021]. Available from: https://www.idf.org/e-library/epidemiology-research/diabetes-atlas/159idf-diabetes-atlas-ninth-edition-2019.html
- 6. Shashank R.J, Rakesh M.P, Das A.K. Insulin--history, biochemistry, physiology and pharmacology. The jurnal of the association of physicians of india. 2007;55 suppl:19-25.
- 7. Aronoff S, Berkowitz K, Shreiner B, Want L. Glucose Metabolism and Regulation: Beyond Insulin and Glucagon. Diabetes Spectrum. 2004;17(3):183-190.
- 8. Newsholme P, Cruzat V, Arfuso F, Keane K. Nutrient regulation of insulin secretion and action. Journal of Endocrinology. 2014;221(3):R105-R120.
- 9. Najjar S, Perdomo G. Hepatic Insulin Clearance: Mechanism and Physiology. Physiology. 2019;34(3):198-215.
- 10. Saltiel A, Kahn C. Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. Nature. 2001;414(6865):799-806.
- 11. Armandi A, Rosso C, Caviglia G, Bugianesi E. Insulin Resistance across the Spectrum of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Metabolites. 2021;11(3):155.
- 12. Kahn B, Flier J. Obesity and insulin resistance. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2000;106(4):473-481.
- 13. Petersen M, Shulman G. Mechanisms of Insulin Action and Insulin Resistance. Physiological Reviews. 2018;98(4):2133-2223.
- Yaribeygi H, Farrokhi F, Butler A, Sahebkar A. Insulin resistance: Review of the underlying molecular mechanisms. Journal of Cellular Physiology. 2019;234(6):8152-8161.
- 15. Samuel V, Shulman G. Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease, Insulin Resistance, and Ceramides. New England Journal of Medicine. 2019;381(19):1866-1869.

- Alzamil H. Elevated Serum TNF-α Is Related to Obesity in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Is Associated with Glycemic Control and Insulin Resistance. Journal of Obesity. 2020;2020:1-5.
- Djordjević B, Cvetković T, Jevtović Stoimenov T, Despotović M, Veljković A, Bašić J et al. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SERUM CONCENTRATION OF TNF-□ AND INSULIN SENSITIVITY IN RATS WITH DIABETES MELLITUS TYPE 2. Acta Medica Medianae. 2021;60(3):42-47.
- Akash M, Rehman K, Liaqat A. Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha: Role in Development of Insulin Resistance and Pathogenesis of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry. 2018;119(1):105-110.
- 19. Sharma V, Puri V. Mechanism of TNF-α-induced lipolysis in human adipocytes uncovered. Obesity. 2016;24(5):990-990.
- 20. Yadav A, Kataria M, Saini V, Yadav A. Role of leptin and adiponectin in insulin resistance. Clinica Chimica Acta. 2013;417:80-84.
- 21. Foula W, Emara R, Eldeeb M, Mokhtar S, El-Sahn F. Effect of a weight loss program on serum adiponectin and insulin resistance among overweight and obese premenopausal females. Journal of the Egyptian Public Health Association. 2020;95(1).
- 22. Li X, Zhang D, Vatner D, Goedeke L, Hirabara S, Zhang Y et al. Mechanisms by which adiponectin reverses high fat diet-induced insulin resistance in mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2020;117(51):32584-32593.
- 23. Su K, Li Y, Zhang D, Yuan J, Zhang C, Liu Y et al. Relation of Circulating Resistin to Insulin Resistance in Type 2 Diabetes and Obesity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Frontiers in Physiology. 2019;10.
- 24. Kusminski C, Mcternan P, Kumar S. Role of resistin in obesity, insulin resistance and Type II diabetes. Clinical Science. 2005;109(3):243-256.
- 25. Utzschneider K, Kahn S. The Role of Insulin Resistance in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2006;91(12):4753-4761.
- 26. Bril F, Lomonaco R, Orsak B, Ortiz-Lopez C, Webb A, Tio F et al. Relationship between disease severity, hyperinsulinemia, and impaired insulin clearance in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology. 2014;59(6):2178-2187.
- 27. Watt M, Miotto P, De Nardo W, Montgomery M. The Liver as an Endocrine Organ— Linking NAFLD and Insulin Resistance. Endocrine Reviews. 2019;40(5):1367-1393.
- Esposito K, Maiorino M, Petrizzo M, Bellastella G, Giugliano D. The Effects of a Mediterranean Diet on the Need for Diabetes Drugs and Remission of Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes: Follow-up of a Randomized Trial. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(7):1824-1830.

- 29. Aziz Z, Absetz P, Oldroyd J, Pronk N, Oldenburg B. A systematic review of real-world diabetes prevention programs: learnings from the last 15 years. Implementation Science. 2015;10(1).
- 30. Long-term effects of lifestyle intervention or metformin on diabetes development and microvascular complications over 15-year follow-up: the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2015;3(11):866-875.
- 31. Balk E, Earley A, Raman G, Avendano E, Pittas A, Remington P. Combined Diet and Physical Activity Promotion Programs to Prevent Type 2 Diabetes Among Persons at Increased Risk: A Systematic Review for the Community Preventive Services Task Force. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2015;163(6):437-451.
- 32. Knowler W, Barrett-connor E, Fowler S, Hamman R, Lachin J, Walker E et al. Reduction in the Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes with Lifestyle Intervention or Metformin. New England Journal of Medicine. 2002;346(6):393-403.
- Ackermann R. From Programs to Policy and Back Again: The Push and Pull of Realizing Type 2 Diabetes Prevention on a National Scale. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(10):1298-1301.
- 34. Hruby A, Ma J, Rogers G, Meigs J, Jacques P. Associations of Dairy Intake with Incident Prediabetes or Diabetes in Middle-Aged Adults Vary by Both Dairy Type and Glycemic Status. The Journal of Nutrition. 2017;:jn253401.
- Gijsbers L, Ding E, Malik V, de Goede J, Geleijnse J, Soedamah-Muthu S. Consumption of dairy foods and diabetes incidence: a dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2016;103(4):1111-1124.
- 36. Lee M, Lee H, Kim J. Dairy food consumption is associated with a lower risk of the metabolic syndrome and its components: a systematic review and meta-analysis. British Journal of Nutrition. 2018;120(4):373-384.
- Mena-Sánchez G, Becerra-Tomás N, Babio N, Salas-Salvadó J. Dairy Product Consumption in the Prevention of Metabolic Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. Advances in Nutrition. 2019;10(suppl\_2):S144-S153.
- 38 Gijsbers L, Ding E, Malik V, de Goede J, Geleijnse J, Soedamah-Muthu S. Consumption of dairy foods and diabetes incidence: a dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2016;103(4):1111-1124.

- 39. Guo J, Givens D, Astrup A, Bakker S, Goossens G, Kratz M et al. The Impact of Dairy Products in the Development of Type 2 Diabetes: Where Does the Evidence Stand in 2019?. Advances in Nutrition. 2019;10(6):1066-1075.
- Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G, Schwedhelm C, Kalle-Uhlmann T, Missbach B, Knüppel S et al. Consumption of Dairy Products in Relation to Changes in Anthropometric Variables in Adult Populations: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies. PLOS ONE. 2016;11(6):e0157461.
- 41. Dumas A, Lapointe A, Dugrenier M, Provencher V, Lamarche B, Desroches S. A systematic review of the effect of yogurt consumption on chronic diseases risk markers in adults. European Journal of Nutrition. 2016;56(4):1375-1392.
- 42. Jin S, Je Y. Dairy Consumption and Risk of Metabolic Syndrome: Results from Korean Population and Meta-Analysis. Nutrients. 2021;13(5):1574.
- 43. Choi H. Dairy Consumption and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Men. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2005;165(9):997.
- 44. Fernandez M, Panahi S, Daniel N, Tremblay A, Marette A. Yogurt and Cardiometabolic Diseases: A Critical Review of Potential Mechanisms. Advances in Nutrition: An International Review Journal. 2017;8(6):812-829.
- 45. Turner K, Keogh J, Clifton P. Dairy consumption and insulin sensitivity: A systematic review of short- and long-term intervention studies. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases. 2014;25(1):3-8.
- 46. Kautzky-Willer A, Harreiter J, Pacini G. Sex and Gender Differences in Risk, Pathophysiology and Complications of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Endocrine Reviews. 2016;37(3):278-316.
- 47. Malik V, Sun Q, van Dam R, Rimm E, Willett W, Rosner B et al. Adolescent dairy product consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes in middle-aged women. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2011;94(3):854-861.
- 48. Margolis K, Wei F, de Boer I, Howard B, Liu S, Manson J et al. A Diet High in Low-Fat Dairy Products Lowers Diabetes Risk in Postmenopausal Women. The Journal of Nutrition. 2011;141(11):1969-1974.
- 49. Kirii K, Mizoue T, Iso H, Takahashi Y, Kato M, Inoue M et al. Calcium, vitamin D and dairy intake in relation to type 2 diabetes risk in a Japanese cohort. Diabetologia. 2009;52(12):2542-2550.
- 50. Mishali M, Prizant-Passal S, Avrech T, Shoenfeld Y. Association between dairy intake and the risk of contracting type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis with subgroup analysis of men versus women. Nutrition Reviews. 2019;77(6):417-429.

- 51. Janiszewska J, Ostrowska J, Szostak-Węgierek D. Milk and Dairy Products and Their Impact on Carbohydrate Metabolism and Fertility—A Potential Role in the Diet of Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Nutrients. 2020;12(11):3491.
- 52. Jenkins B, Seyssel K, Chiu S, Pan P, Lin S, Stanley E et al. Odd Chain Fatty Acids; New Insights of the Relationship Between the Gut Microbiota, Dietary Intake, Biosynthesis and Glucose Intolerance. Scientific Reports. 2017;7(1).
- 53. Huang L, Lin J, Aris I, Yang G, Chen W, Li L. Circulating Saturated Fatty Acids and Incident Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Nutrients. 2019;11(5):998.
- 54. Venn-Watson S, Lumpkin R, Dennis E. Efficacy of dietary odd-chain saturated fatty acid pentadecanoic acid parallels broad associated health benefits in humans: could it be essential?. Scientific Reports. 2020;10(1).
- 55. Hirahatake K, Bruno R, Bolling B, Blesso C, Alexander L, Adams S. Dairy Foods and Dairy Fats: New Perspectives on Pathways Implicated in Cardiometabolic Health. Advances in Nutrition. 2020;11:266-79.
- 56. Feeney E, Barron R, Dible V, Hamilton Z, Power Y, Tanner L et al. Dairy matrix effects: response to consumption of dairy fat differs when eaten within the cheese matrix—a randomized controlled trial. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2018;108(4):667-674.
- 57. Sun X, Zemel M. Calcium and Dairy Products Inhibit Weight and Fat Regain during Ad Libitum Consumption Following Energy Restriction in Ap2-Agouti Transgenic Mice. The Journal of Nutrition. 2004;134(11):3054-3060.
- 58. Mozaffarian D, Wu J. Flavonoids, Dairy Foods, and Cardiovascular and Metabolic Health. Circulation Research. 2018;122(2):369-384.
- 59. Thomas A, Dunn T, Drayton J, Oort P, Adams S. A high calcium diet containing nonfat dry milk reduces weight gain and associated adipose tissue inflammation in diet-induced obese mice when compared to high calcium alone. Nutrition & Metabolism. 2012;9(1).
- 60. Eller L, Reimer R. Dairy Protein Attenuates Weight Gain in Obese Rats Better Than Whey or Casein Alone. Obesity. 2010;18(4):704-711.
- 61. 1. McGregor R, Poppitt S. Milk protein for improved metabolic health: a review of the evidence. Nutrition & Metabolism. 2013;10(1):46.
- 62. Wang X, Gupta J, Kerslake M, Rayat G, Proctor S, Chan C. Trans-11 vaccenic acid improves insulin secretion in models of type 2 diabetes in vivo and in vitro. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research. 2016;60(4):846-857.

- 63. Wang X, England A, Sinclair C, Merkosky F, Chan C. Trans-11 vaccenic acid improves glucose homeostasis in a model of type 2 diabetes by promoting insulin secretion via GPR40. Journal of Functional Foods. 2019;60:103410.
- 64. Matsumoto M, Inoue R, Tsuruta T, Hara H, Yajima T. Long-term oral administration of cows' milk improves insulin sensitivity in rats fed a high-sucrose diet. British Journal of Nutrition. 2009;102(9):1324-1333.
- 65. Yoshimura E, Santos N, Machado E, Agustinho B, Pereira L, de Aguiar S et al. Functionality of cow milk naturally enriched with polyunsaturated fatty acids and polyphenols in diets for diabetic rats. PLOS ONE. 2018;13(4):e0195839.
- 66. Eller L, Reimer R. A High Calcium, Skim Milk Powder Diet Results in a Lower Fat Mass in Male, Energy-Restricted, Obese Rats More Than a Low Calcium, Casein, or Soy Protein Diet. The Journal of Nutrition. 2010;140(7):1234-1241.
- 67. Trinchese G, Cavaliere G, De Filippo C, Aceto S, Prisco M, Chun J et al. Human Milk and Donkey Milk, Compared to Cow Milk, Reduce Inflammatory Mediators and Modulate Glucose and Lipid Metabolism, Acting on Mitochondrial Function and Oleylethanolamide Levels in Rat Skeletal Muscle. Frontiers in Physiology. 2018;9.
- 68. Kergoat M, Gespach C, Rosselin G, Portha B. Evaluation of in vivo insulin action and glucose metabolism in milk-fed rats. Bioscience Reports. 1992;12(4):273-280.
- 69. Yamin H, Barnea M, Genzer Y, Chapnik N, Froy O. Long-term commercial cow's milk consumption and its effects on metabolic parameters associated with obesity in young mice. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research. 2014;58(5):1061-1068.
- 70. Song K, Song I, Gu H, Na J, Kim S, Yang H et al. Anti-diabetic Effect of Fermented Milk Containing Conjugated Linoleic Acid on Type II Diabetes Mellitus. Korean Journal for Food Science of Animal Resources. 2016;36(2):170-177.
- 71. Qu L, Ren J, Huang L, Pang B, Liu X, Liu X et al. Antidiabetic Effects of Lactobacillus casei Fermented Yogurt through Reshaping Gut Microbiota Structure in Type 2 Diabetic Rats. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 2018;66(48):12696-12705.
- 72. Lasker S, Rahman M, Parvez F, Zamila M, Miah P, Nahar K et al. High-fat diet-induced metabolic syndrome and oxidative stress in obese rats are ameliorated by yogurt supplementation. Scientific Reports. 2019;9(1).
- 73. MIAO J, LANG C, KANG Z, ZHU H, WANG S, LI M. Oral administration of fermented milk supplemented with synbiotics can influence the physiological condition of Wistar rats in a dose-sensitive and sex-specific manner. Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health. 2016;35(2):89-96.

- 74. Johnson M, Jumbo-Lucioni P, Watts A, Allison D, Nagy T. Effect of dairy supplementation on body composition and insulin resistance in mice. Nutrition. 2007;23(11-12):836-843.
- Geurts L, Everard A, le Ruyet P, Delzenne N, Cani P. Ripened Dairy Products Differentially Affect Hepatic Lipid Content and Adipose Tissue Oxidative Stress Markers in Obese and Type 2 Diabetic Mice. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 2012;60(8):2063-2068.
- 76. Hanning A, Wang X, Hashemi Z, Wan S, England A, Jacobs R et al. Both low- and regular-fat cheeses mediate improved insulin sensitivity and modulate serum phospholipid profiles in insulin-resistant rats. The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry. 2019;64:144-151.
- 77. Turgeon S, Brisson G. Symposium review: The dairy matrix—Bioaccessibility and bioavailability of nutrients and physiological effects. Journal of Dairy Science. 2020;103(7):6727-6736.
- 78. Thorning T, Bertram H, Bonjour J, de Groot L, Dupont D, Feeney E et al. Whole dairy matrix or single nutrients in assessment of health effects: current evidence and knowledge gaps. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2017;105(5):1033-1045.
- 79. Wat E, Tandy S, Kapera E, Kamili A, Chung R, Brown A et al. Dietary phospholipid-rich dairy milk extract reduces hepatomegaly, hepatic steatosis and hyperlipidemia in mice fed a high-fat diet. Atherosclerosis. 2009;205(1):144-150.
- Azarcoya-Barrera J, Field C, Goruk S, Makarowski A, Curtis J, Pouliot Y et al. Buttermilk: an important source of lipid soluble forms of choline that influences the immune system development in Sprague–Dawley rat offspring. European Journal of Nutrition. 2021;60(5):2807-2818.
- 81. Turgeon S, Rioux L. Food matrix impact on macronutrients nutritional properties. Food Hydrocolloids. 2011;25(8):1915-1924.
- 82. Weaver C. A Call for More Research Focus on the Dairy Matrix. The Journal of Nutrition. 2021;151(8):2092-2093.
- 83. MILK Home[Internet]. Milknutritiousbynature.eu. 2017 [cited 13 August 2021]. Available from: http://www.milknutritiousbynature.eu/MILK Nutritious by nature.
- 84. McGill C, Fulgoni V, DiRienzo D, Huth P, Kurilich A, Miller G. Contribution of Dairy Products to Dietary Potassium Intake in the United States Population. Journal of the American College of Nutrition. 2008;27(1):44-50.
- 85. Corbin K, Zeisel S. Choline metabolism provides novel insights into nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and its progression. Current Opinion in Gastroenterology. 2012;28(2):159-165.

- 86. Richard C, Lewis E, Zhao Y, Asomaning J, Jacobs R, Field C et al. Measurement of the total choline content in 48 commercial dairy products or dairy alternatives. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis. 2016;45:1-8.
- 87. Comerford K, Miller G, Boileau A, Masiello Schuette S, Giddens J, Brown K. Global Review of Dairy Recommendations in Food-Based Dietary Guidelines. Frontiers in Nutrition. 2021;8.
- 88. Sluijs I, Forouhi N, Beulens J, van der Schouw Y, Agnoli C, Arriola L et al. The amount and type of dairy product intake and incident type 2 diabetes: results from the EPIC-InterAct Study. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2012;96(2):382-390.
- 89. Trinchese G, Cavaliere G, Penna E, De Filippo C, Cimmino F, Catapano A et al. Milk From Cow Fed With High Forage/Concentrate Ratio Diet: Beneficial Effect on Rat Skeletal Muscle Inflammatory State and Oxidative Stress Through Modulation of Mitochondrial Functions and AMPK Activity. Frontiers in Physiology. 2018;9.
- Johnson M, Jumbo-Lucioni P, Watts A, Allison D, Nagy T. Effect of dairy supplementation on body composition and insulin resistance in mice. Nutrition. 2007;23(11-12):836-843.
- 91. Jangra S, Pothuraju R, Sharma R, Bhakri G. Co-Administration of Soluble Fibres and Lactobacillus casei NCDC19 Fermented Milk Prevents Adiposity and Insulin Resistance Via Modulation of Lipid Mobilization Genes in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Disorders - Drug Targets. 2020;20(9):1543-1551.
- 92. Abbring S, Ryan J, Diks M, Hols G, Garssen J, van Esch B. Suppression of Food Allergic Symptoms by Raw Cow's Milk in Mice is Retained after Skimming but Abolished after Heating the Milk—A Promising Contribution of Alkaline Phosphatase. Nutrients. 2019;11(7):1499.
- 93. Saliganti V, Kapila R, Sharma R, Kapila S. Feeding probiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus (MTCC 5897) fermented milk to suckling mothers alleviates ovalbumin-induced allergic sensitisation in mice offspring. British Journal of Nutrition. 2015;114(8):1168-1179.
- 94. Lang C. Nutrient Requirements of Laboratory Animals.Subcommittee on Laboratory Animal Nutrition, Committee on Animal Nutrition, Board on Agriculture, National Research Council. The Quarterly Review of Biology. 1995;70(4):524-525.
- 95. Ayala J, Samuel V, Morton G, Obici S, Croniger C, Shulman G et al. Standard operating procedures for describing and performing metabolic tests of glucose homeostasis in mice. Disease Models & Mechanisms. 2010;3(9-10):525-534.
- 96. Hughey C, Wasserman D, Lee-Young R, Lantier L. Approach to assessing determinants of glucose homeostasis in the conscious mouse. Mammalian Genome. 2014;25(9-10):522-538.

- 97. Levene A, Kudo H, Armstrong M, Thursz M, Gedroyc W, Anstee Q et al. Quantifying hepatic steatosis more than meets the eye. Histopathology. 2012;60(6):971-981.
- Kleinert M, Clemmensen C, Hofmann S, Moore M, Renner S, Woods S et al. Animal models of obesity and diabetes mellitus. Nature Reviews Endocrinology. 2018;14(3):140-162.
- 99. Pettersson U, Waldén T, Carlsson P, Jansson L, Phillipson M. Female Mice are Protected against High-Fat Diet Induced Metabolic Syndrome and Increase the Regulatory T Cell Population in Adipose Tissue. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(9):e46057.
- 100. Hevener A, Reichart D, Janez A, Olefsky J. Female Rats Do Not Exhibit Free Fatty Acid–Induced Insulin Resistance. Diabetes. 2002;51(6):1907-1912.
- 101. Hwang L, Wang C, Li T, Chang S, Lin L, Chen C et al. Sex Differences in High-fat Dietinduced Obesity, Metabolic Alterations and Learning, and Synaptic Plasticity Deficits in Mice. Obesity. 2010;18(3):463-469.
- Casimiro I, Stull N, Tersey S, Mirmira R. Phenotypic sexual dimorphism in response to dietary fat manipulation in C57BL/6J mice. Journal of Diabetes and its Complications. 2021;35(2):107795.
- 103. Carreres L, Jílková Z, Vial G, Marche P, Decaens T, Lerat H. Modeling Diet-Induced NAFLD and NASH in Rats: A Comprehensive Review. Biomedicines. 2021;9(4):378.
- 104. Bowe J, Franklin Z, Hauge-Evans A, King A, Persaud S, Jones P. METABOLIC PHENOTYPING GUIDELINES: Assessing glucose homeostasis in rodent models. Journal of Endocrinology. 2014;222(3):G13-G25.
- 105. Fraulob J, Ogg-Diamantino R, Fernandes-Santos C, Aguila M, Mandarim-de-Lacerda C. A Mouse Model of Metabolic Syndrome: Insulin Resistance, Fatty Liver and Non-Alcoholic Fatty Pancreas Disease (NAFPD) in C57BL/6 Mice Fed a High Fat Diet. Journal of Clinical Biochemistry and Nutrition. 2010;46(3):212-223.
- 106. 6. Winzell M, Ahrén B. The High-Fat Diet–Fed Mouse: A Model for Studying Mechanisms and Treatment of Impaired Glucose Tolerance and Type 2 Diabetes Diabetes. 2004;53(suppl\_3):S215-S219.
- 107. Charlton M, Krishnan A, Viker K, Sanderson S, Cazanave S, McConico A et al. Fast food diet mouse: novel small animal model of NASH with ballooning, progressive fibrosis, and high physiological fidelity to the human condition. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. 2011;301(5):G825-G834.
- 108. Liu X, Duan N, Liu C, Niu C, Liu X, Wu J. Characterization of a murine nonalcoholic steatohepatitis model induced by high fat high calorie diet plus fructose and glucose in drinking water. Laboratory Investigation. 2018;98(9):1184-1199.

- 109. Liang W, Menke A, Driessen A, Koek G, Lindeman J, Stoop R et al. Establishment of a General NAFLD Scoring System for Rodent Models and Comparison to Human Liver Pathology. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(12):e115922.
- 110. Kristiansen MNB, Veidal SS, Christoffersen C, Jelsing J, Rigbolt KTG. Molecular Characterization of Microvesicular and Macrovesicular Steatosis Shows Widespread Differences in Metabolic Pathways. Lipids. 2019;54(1):109–15.
- 111. Selzner N, Selzner M, Jochum W, Amann-Vesti B, Graf R, Clavien P. Mouse livers with macrosteatosis are more susceptible to normothermic ischemic injury than those with microsteatosis. Journal of Hepatology. 2006;44(4):694-701.
- 112. Margariti E, Deutsch M, Manolakopoulos S, Kaflri G, Tiniakos D, Papatheodoridis G. 852 NON-ALCOHOLIC FATTY LIVER DISEASE (NAFLD) MAY DEVELOP IN PATIENTS WITH NORMAL BODY MASS INDEX (BMI). Journal of Hepatology. 2011;54:S340.
- 113. Morio B, Fardet A, Legrand P, Lecerf J. Involvement of dietary saturated fats, from all sources or of dairy origin only, in insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nutrition Reviews. 2016;74(1):33-47.
- 114. Kratz M, Marcovina S, Nelson J, Yeh M, Kowdley K, Callahan H et al. Dairy fat intake is associated with glucose tolerance, hepatic and systemic insulin sensitivity, and liver fat but not β-cell function in humans. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2014;99(6):1385-1396.
- 115. Mozaffarian D, de Oliveira Otto M, Lemaitre R, Fretts A, Hotamisligil G, Tsai M et al. trans-Palmitoleic acid, other dairy fat biomarkers, and incident diabetes: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2013;97(4):854-861.
- 116. Mehedint M, Zeisel S. Choline's role in maintaining liver function: New evidence for epigenetic mechanisms. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care. 2013;16(3):339-345.
- 117. Wortmann S, Mayr J. Choline-related-inherited metabolic diseases—A mini review. Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease. 2019;42(2):237-242
- 118. Norris G, Blesso C. Dietary sphingolipids: potential for management of dyslipidemia and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Nutrition Reviews. 2017;75(4):274-285.
- 119. Yamauchi I, Uemura M, Hosokawa M, Iwashima-Suzuki A, Shiota M, Miyashita K. The dietary effect of milk sphingomyelin on the lipid metabolism of obese/diabetic KK-Aymice and wild-type C57BL/6J mice. Food & Function. 2016;7(9):3854-3867.
- 120. Zhou A, Ward R. Milk polar lipids modulate lipid metabolism, gut permeability, and systemic inflammation in high-fat-fed C57BL/6J ob/ob mice, a model of severe obesity. Journal of Dairy Science. 2019;102(6):4816-4831.

- 121. Shi C, Li H, Qu X, Huang L, Kong C, Qin H et al. High fat diet exacerbates intestinal barrier dysfunction and changes gut microbiota in intestinal-specific ACF7 knockout mice. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy. 2019;110:537-545.
- 122. Horst EA, Mayorga EJ, Rodriguez-Jimenez S, Abeyta MA, Goetz BM, Carta S, et al. Causes and Metabolic Consequences of Leaky Gut. Cornell nutrition conference. 2019.
- 123. Kwok R, Torres D, Harrison S. Vitamin D and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): Is it more than just an association?. Hepatology. 2013;58(3):1166-1174.
- 124. Tan W, Zhang Q, Dong Z, Yan Y, Fu Y, Liu X et al. Phosphatidylcholine Ameliorates LPS-Induced Systemic Inflammation and Cognitive Impairments via Mediating the Gut– Brain Axis Balance. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 2020;68(50):14884-14895.
- 125. Zhang X, Chen X, Xu Y, Yang J, Du L, Li K et al. Milk consumption and multiple health outcomes: umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses in humans. Nutrition & Metabolism. 2021;18(1).
- 126. Watson R, Collier R, Preedy V. Dairy in human health and disease across the lifespan. London: Academic Press; 2017;21–30.
- 127. Zhang L, Tian R, Yao X, Zhang X, Zhang P, Huang Y et al. Milk Fat Globule–Epidermal Growth Factor–Factor 8 Improves Hepatic Steatosis and Inflammation. Hepatology. 2020;73(2):586-605.
- 128. Thomas A, Dunn T, Drayton J, Oort P, Adams S. A dairy-based high calcium diet improves glucose homeostasis and reduces steatosis in the context of preexisting obesity. Obesity. 2013;21(3):E229-E235.
- 129. Thomas A, Dunn T, Drayton J, Oort P, Adams S. A dairy-based high calcium diet improves glucose homeostasis and reduces steatosis in the context of preexisting obesity. Obesity. 2013;21(3):E229-E235.
- 130. Celik N, Inanc N. Effects of dairy products consumption on weight loss and blood chemistry in premenopausal obese women. The Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association. 2016;66(1):76-82.
- 131. Zeng Y, Luo M, Pan L, Chen Y, Guo S, Luo D et al. Vitamin D signaling maintains intestinal innate immunity and gut microbiota: potential intervention for metabolic syndrome and NAFLD. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. 2020;318(3):G542-G553.
- 132. Hariri M, Zohdi S. Effect of Vitamin D on Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Clinical Trials. International Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2019;10(1):14.
- 133. Bjørnshave A, Hermansen K. Effects of Dairy Protein and Fat on the Metabolic Syndrome and Type 2 Diabetes. The Review of Diabetic Studies. 2014;11(2):153-166.

- 134. Jakubowicz D, Froy O. Biochemical and metabolic mechanisms by which dietary whey protein may combat obesity and Type 2 diabetes. The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry. 2013;24(1):1-5.
- 135. Junker A, Gluud L, Holst J, Knop F, Vilsbøll T. Diabetic and nondiabetic patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease have an impaired incretin effect and fasting hyperglucagonaemia. Journal of Internal Medicine. 2016;279(5):485-493.
- 136. Hamad E, Taha S, Abou Dawood A, Sitohy M, Abdel-Hamid M. Protective effect of whey proteins against nonalcoholic fatty liver in rats. Lipids in Health and Disease. 2011;10(1).
- 137. Kung B, Anderson G, Paré S, Tucker A, Vien S, Wright A et al. Effect of milk protein intake and casein-to-whey ratio in breakfast meals on postprandial glucose, satiety ratings, and subsequent meal intake. Journal of Dairy Science. 2018;101(10):8688-8701.
- 138. Fardet A, Rock E. In vitro and in vivo antioxidant potential of milks, yoghurts, fermented milks and cheeses: a narrative review of evidence. Nutrition Research Reviews. 2018;31(1):52-70.
- 139. Krissansen G. Emerging Health Properties of Whey Proteins and Their Clinical Implications. Journal of the American College of Nutrition. 2007;26(6):713S-723S.
- Rosqvist F, Rydell A, Iggman D. The Effects of Foods on Blood Lipids in Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD)—A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Frontiers in Nutrition. 2020;7.
- 141. Sadrzadeh-Yeganeh H, Elmadfa I, Djazayery A, Jalali M, Heshmat R, Chamary M. The effects of probiotic and conventional yoghurt on lipid profile in women. British Journal of Nutrition. 2010;103(12):1778-1783.
- 142. Van Rompay M, McKeown N, Goodman E, Eliasziw M, Chomitz V, Gordon C et al. Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Intake Is Positively Associated with Baseline Triglyceride Concentrations, and Changes in Intake Are Inversely Associated with Changes in HDL Cholesterol over 12 Months in a Multi-Ethnic Sample of Children. The Journal of Nutrition. 2015;145(10):2389-2395.
- 143. Manco M. Insulin Resistance and NAFLD: A Dangerous Liaison beyond the Genetics. Children. 2017;4(8):74.
- 144. Maximos M, Bril F, Portillo Sanchez P, Lomonaco R, Orsak B, Biernacki D et al. The role of liver fat and insulin resistance as determinants of plasma aminotransferase elevation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology. 2015;61(1):153-160.
- 145. Swaim L, Taylor H, Jersey G. The effect of handling techniques on serum alt activity in mice. Journal of Applied Toxicology. 1985;5(3):160-162.

- 146. Chen Z, Han C, Pan L, Zhang H, Ma Z, Huang Z et al. Serum Alanine Aminotransferase Independently Correlates with Intrahepatic Triglyceride Contents in Obese Subjects. Digestive Diseases and Sciences. 2014;59(10):2470-2476.
- 147. Dugan C, Aguilar D, Park Y, Lee J, Fernandez M. Dairy Consumption Lowers Systemic Inflammation and Liver Enzymes in Typically Low-Dairy Consumers with Clinical Characteristics of Metabolic Syndrome. Journal of the American College of Nutrition. 2016;35(3):255-261.
- 148. Jensen T, Kiersgaard M, Sørensen D, Mikkelsen L. Fasting of mice: a review. Laboratory Animals. 2013;47(4):225-240.
- 149. Méndez-Lucas A, Duarte J, Sunny N, Satapati S, He T, Fu X et al. PEPCK-M expression in mouse liver potentiates, not replaces, PEPCK-C mediated gluconeogenesis. Journal of Hepatology. 2013;59(1):105-113.
- Geisler C, Hepler C, Higgins M, Renquist B. Hepatic adaptations to maintain metabolic homeostasis in response to fasting and refeeding in mice. Nutrition & Metabolism. 2016;13(1).
- 151. Sun Y, Liu S, Ferguson S, Wang L, Klepcyk P, Yun J et al. Phosphoenolpyruvate Carboxykinase Overexpression Selectively Attenuates Insulin Signaling and Hepatic Insulin Sensitivity in Transgenic Mice. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2002;277(26):23301-23307.
- 152. Chen M, Pan A, Malik V, Hu F. Effects of dairy intake on body weight and fat: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2012;96(4):735-747.
- 153. Akinmokun A, Selby P, Ramaiya K, Alberti K. The Short Insulin Tolerance Test for Determination of Insulin Sensitivity: A Comparison with the Euglycaemic Clamp. Diabetic Medicine. 1992;9(5):432-437.
- 154. Zhang X, Yang S, Chen J, Su Z. Unraveling the Regulation of Hepatic Gluconeogenesis. Frontiers in Endocrinology. 2019;10.
- 154. Nair A, Jacob S. A simple practice guide for dose conversion between animals and human. Journal of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy. 2016;7(2):27.
- 156. Reagan-Shaw S, Nihal M, Ahmad N. Dose translation from animal to human studies revisited. The FASEB Journal. 2008;22(3):659-661.
- 157. Volynets V, Reichold A, Bárdos G, Rings A, Bleich A, Bischoff S. Assessment of the Intestinal Barrier with Five Different Permeability Tests in Healthy C57BL/6J and BALB/cJ Mice. Digestive Diseases and Sciences. 2015;61(3):737-746.